|l||m||®< PUMA Year-on-Year Comparsion

puma.com
2002 2001 Deviation
€ Mio. € Mio.
Brand Sales 1,380.0 1,011.7 36.4%
financial Consolidated Net Sales 909.8 598.1 52.1%
Gross profit 396.9 250.6 58.4%
-in % 43.6% 41.9% +1.7%
annual report 2002
i EBIT 125.0 59.0 111.8%
-in % 13.7% 9.9% +3.8%
EBT 124.4 57.4 116.6%
-in % 13.7% 9.6% +4.1%
. Net earnings 84.9 39.7 113.8%
- : -in % 9.3% 6.6% +2.7%
— - —————
—_— Shareholders' equity 252.2 176.7 42.7%
: - Equity ratio in % 48.0% 44.7% +3.3%
|_ ! Working capital 114.0 110.3 3.3%
I i -

.._.]' ‘ gt Cash flow 135.1 69.7 93.9%

{

[ g
- Free Cash flow (before acquisition) 100.1 22.5 345.3%
Earnings per share (in €) 5.44 2.58 110.8%
Cash flow per share (in €) 8.65 4.53 91.2%
Free Cash flow per share (in €) 6.41 1.46
Equity per share (in €) 15.92 11.45 39.0%
Stock exchange rate at year-end (in €) 65.03 34.05 91.0%
Market cop 1,030.4 525.3 96.1%
Average outstanding shares (in millions) 15,611 15,392
Shares at year-end (in millions) 15,846 15,429




10 Year Overview

B Phase I

I Phase 11

Phase I

Brand sales"
-in %

Consolidated sales
-in %
- Footwear
- Apparel
- Accessories

Gross profit
- in % of net sales
License and commission income
- in % of net sales
Operating result
- in % of net sales
Financial result
- in % of net sales
Result before taxes on income?
- in % of net sales
Consolidated profit
- in % of net sales
Earnings per share (in €)

Balance sheet total
Inventories

Trade receivables

Net working capital

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank loans

Equity capital

Subordinated shareholder loan

Order volume on Dec. 31
Number of staff on Dec. 31

Average outstanding shares (in million)
Number of shares on Dec. 31 (in million)
Price of the PUMA share on Dec. 31

1) including sales of licensees

2002
T-€

1,379,978
36.4%

909,778
52.1%
613,033
238,450
58,295

396,901
43.6%
44,896

4.9%

125,035

13.7%
-609
-0.1%

124,426
13.7%
84,881

9.3%
5.44

525,837
167,906
119,463
114,030
113,575

19,270
252,236

531,081
2,387
15,611
15,846
65.03

2) adjusted for extraordinary income/special influences

3) the previous year's figures were adjusted to comply with IAS standards and may differ from previously published figures based on HGB.

1,011,709
21.7%

598,075
29.3%
384,060
169,498
44,517

250,611
41.9%
37,247

6.2%
59,046
9.9%
-1,613
-0.3%
57,433
9.6%
39,702
6.6%
2.58

395,383
144,505
104,557
110,342

35,308

43,100
176,726

360,105
2,012
15,392
15,429
34.05

2000
T-€

831,075
16.2%

462,437
24.1%
270,905
163,544
27,988

176,420
38.2%
28,919

6.3%
22,826
4.9%
-1,599
-0.3%
21,227
4.6%
17,572
3.8%
1.14

311,489
95,002
80,171
78,841
42,862
38,058

131,264

232,084
1,522
15,390
15,390
12.70

1999
T-€

714,918
10.4%

372,709
23.2%
209,022
138,952
24,735

141,687
38.0%
23,932

6.4%
16,256
4.4%
-1,863
-0.5%
14,393
3.9%
9,537
2.6%
0.62

266,600
85,089
69,665
76,638
35,493
34,366

112,171

187,220
1,424
15,390
15,390
17.20

1998
i)

647,435
4.0%

302,512
8.1%
202,513
85,802
14,197

108,247
35.8%
24,518

8.1%
4,683
1.5%
-1,259
-0.4%
3,424
1.1%
4,047
1.3%
0.26

222,910
63,395
55,452
70,556
35,484
27,659
97,658

133,532
1,145
15,390
15,390
11.25

1997 1996 1995 1994® 1993
T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€
622,465 594,022 577,172 554,228 541,327
48%  2.9%  41%  2.4% ===
279,730 250,463 211,454 199,539 209,995
11.7%  184%  6.0%  -5.0% ===
193,784 176,167 154,362 143,469 141,860
73,078 64,385 50,326 49,885 59,757
12,868 9,911 6767 6,186 8,378
102,318 94,030 79,018 69,49 62,795
36.6% 37.5% 37.4% 34.8%  29.9%
25,851 25497 26,020 27,099 21,448
9.2%  10.2%  12.3%  13.6%  10.2%
36,321 33,337 30,991 23,147 -26,207
13.0%  13.3% 14.7%  11.6% -12.5%
1,084 -174  -1,167  -2,673  -5,925
0.4%  -0.1% -0.6% -13%  -2.8%
37,405 33,163 26,535 17,269 -35,358
13.4%  13.2%  12.5%  8.7% -16.8%
34,648 42,848 24,637 14,896 -36,886
12.4%  17.1%  11.7%  7.5% -17.6%
2.25 1.98 1.76 1.06  -2.63
176,624 147,672 106,484 100,020 121,890
58,427 41,907 36,945 33,257 44,011
53,439 38,676 24,543 24,390 43,865
69,596 21,217 17761 6,647 34,052
35420 42,140 21,039 15899 1,868
13,379 7638 17891 15085 52,613
96,651 61,633 -13,631 -38,143 -53,037
--- 1,460 44315 58246 55,042
130,764 111,441 90,932 94,365 85,244
1,078 807 745 703 714
15390 15390 14,000 14,000 14,000
15390 15390 14,000 14,000 14,000
18.61 2629  18.41  14.93 7.75
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Dear Fellow Shareholders,

2002 was truly an outstanding year for PUMA. Not only
did we manage to surpass our often-elevated financial
goals, but we also did so with unwavering consistency.
Given the challenging industry environment in which we
find ourselves, PUMA's results speak for themselves.

As a company, 2002 showcased our ability to break
through milestones and steer a course of continued,
healthy growth. Our goal of becoming an indispensable
hallmark in the ever-merging worlds of sport, lifestyle and
fashion has become a reality.

PUMA's success bore positive developments in all areas.
Throughout the year we were able to make marked leaps
in sales in all key regions and product segments.
Respectively, profit showed over-proportional advances as
our drive to further improve the efficiency of our
corporate structure continued. Setting a new corporate

Letter to Shareholders

record, and building on last year’s stellar results, earnings
per share also improved to €5.44. Furthermore, our
dedication to driving growth through healthy expansion
and record free cash flow has helped build a solid
foundation for future endeavors.

Having devoted the last ten years to Phases I and II,
whereby we established a solid financial footing and
improved brand equity, 2002 marked the advent of Phase
III of PUMA's long-term growth strategy. Looking forward,
we are positioning the company to gain a deeper root in
the lives of our consumers by building upon the strength
of the core brand through ancillary product offerings. A
solid continuation of capital expenditure will allow PUMA
to strengthen its directly owned store network and meet
consumers where they shop. Internally, the introduction
of the Group Executive Committee will bolster our
organizational structure and lend ongoing support to
PUMA's development objectives. We are confident that
our strategy will allow us to capitalize on new
opportunities, thereby exposing the full potential of the
brand.

Although PUMA has enjoyed exceptional success in 2002
we are focusing on what the future will bring. Our
industry evolves rapidly and we are working hard to
continue to anticipate its direction. With the continued
support of our customers, shareholders, Team Members,
and partners, and with unbridled passion, we look
forward to what lies ahead.

Sincerely,

Jochen Zeitz



Course O fess Continued in 20b2

In financial year MA continued its successful course and set
new standards for theTuture. Phase III of PUMA's long-term corporate
development plan started with extraordinary sales and earnings
growth. Consolidated sales rose by 52%0 in 2002. A further improvement
in the gross prq@rgin and a decline in costs relative to sales resulted
in earnings before taxesm“ doubling. Earnings per share
reached a new record high of € 5.44. The company’s share price
increased by 91% during the past year. Including sales generated by

licensees, PUMA'’s brand sales totaled € 1.4 billion.

Report of the Boarg
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General Overview Sales and Earnings Position

#» Worldwide weakness in economic activity

2002 was marked by a very weak economic environment.
While general economic growth was forecast for the
beginning of the year, nearly every region saw a
continuation of last year’s negative trend, with a further
economic decline becoming apparent as the vyear
progressed. Underlying factors for this development were
growing unemployment rates, the resulting insecurity in
consumer behavior, conservative corporate investment
policy, global corporate scandals, rising oil prices and
increased geopolitical tension.

Consequently, the increase in worldwide gross national
products trailed expectations. The USA achieved growth
of 2.2%, growth in EU member states was only marginally
positive, and there was even a decline in Japan’s gross

1) General overview of the sporting goods industry

In 2002 the sporting goods markets have showed
significant regional differences. North America was able to
secure moderate sales growth while Europe recorded only
minor growth. Some EU member states saw expenditure
in this sector decline. The Asian market, on the other
hand, witnessed growth despite a generally weak
economic climate. This growth was underscored by Japan
and Korea, where the Soccer World Cup stimulated
demand.

These global business trends made profitable growth in
the sports sector difficult, as consumer-buying habits
were conservative. In addition, the competitive pressure

1) Phase III — Strategic Corporate Planning

In October 2002, PUMA introduced the next phase of its
long-term corporate development plan. Following the
successful completion of Phases I (restructuring) and
Phase II (repositioning), Phase III aims to tap the full
brand potential by increasing its desirability and turning it
into profitable growth. PUMA's goal is to become the
world’s most desirable sportlifestyle brand. “Sportlifestyle”
is the unique combination of two successful concepts that
have previously been independent. PUMA's authenticity in
the sports segment will merge with the continually
changing lifestyle of its consumers and clients. PUMA will

national product. In this environment, worldwide inflation
was approximately 1.5%.

This decline had a major effect on global capital markets.
All stock exchanges showed significant losses during the
course of the year and nearly every index closed far
below last year’s levels. Increasing corporate debt in
conjunction with idle production capacities led to
numerous insolvencies involving, in some cases, high-
profile companies. Due to numerous corporate scandals
and financial distress, investors were very reluctant to
take on risks.

in saturated sub-markets has lead to considerable price
reductions by suppliers and thus to smaller margins.

PUMA succeeded in clearly defining the brand and in
presenting its unique features in this market environment.
As a consequence, we achieved record sales and earnings
yet again.

continue its brand strategy that began in 1998, as the
only brand that unites the creative impulses from the
world of sports, lifestyle and fashion. PUMA estimates its
current brand potential, consisting of consolidated sales
and royalties, to be approximately € 2 billion. A
substantial portion of this expansion target is expected to
be realized in Phase III, whereby growth is expected in all
regions, especially in Europe and America. It is assumed
that the PUMA Group will achieve a two-digit growth in
sales and earnings on average through the year 2006.

1) Increase in consolidated sales by 52%

Continuing a strong eight-year growth trend, 2002
showed the greatest improvements with a growth rate of
52.1%. Sales increased from € 598.1 million to € 909.8
million. Thus PUMA once again achieved a new corporate
sales record. Currency-adjusted sales increased by
54.8%.

Nearly all markets saw unusually strong growth with a
58.7% increase in Europe and 46.8% in America. Taken
together, these regions accounted for 92.6% of
consolidated sales. The product range includes sports

1) Strong growth in footwear

Footwear saw particularly strong growth. Consolidated
sales increased by 59.6%, from € 384.1 million to € 613.0

1) Significant increase in apparel

Apparel sales increased by 40.7% from € 169.5 million to
€ 238.4 million compared to the previous year. The

1) Sales growth in accessories

Sales in accessories increased by 31.0%, from € 44.5
million to € 58.3 million. This segment includes bags and
balls as well as other sports equipment. The accessories

Consolidated sales by product segment Accessories [l
Apparel
Footwear .
million €
1.000—

800 —

600 —

400—

200 —

2000 2001 2002

fashion, sportlifestyle products, performance products
and basics, which are marketed and sold through
selective distribution channels and PUMA's own concept
stores.

The strategic expansion of the company-owned retail
business was developed systematically in 2002. Sales
increased by 107.3%, from € 36.0 million to € 74.6 million
compared to the previous year. Retail sales accounted for
8.2% (6.0%) of consolidated sales.

million. The footwear segment accounted for 67.4%
(64.2%) of consolidated sales.

apparel segment accounted for 26.2% (28.3%) of
consolidated sales.

segment accounted for 6.4% (7.4%) of consolidated
sales.

Africa/Middle East [l
Asia/Pacific Rim [l
America

millllon € Europe .

Consolidated sales by region

1.000—
800—
600 —

400 —

200—

2000 2001 2002
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Brand Sales Jan. 1, - Dec. 31, 2002 +/-in % o ) . o
; _ ; ; 1y Positive development in Asia and the Pacific Rim
Worldwide License PUMA-Group Worldwide License PUMA
€ Mio. % € Mio. % € Mio. % Group In the Asia/Pacific Rim region sales amounted to € 47.4 Japan, Korea and South-East Asia are strictly license
”’t”’ ”””” 5 s e Y R million and exceeded the previous year’s level by 4.7%. markets and therefore do not belong to the consolidated
- by region . o . -
Europe 206.6 51.2% 721 15.3% 634.5 69.7% 52.6% 14.2% 58.7% Australia, New Zga.laer and the. Pacific Islands, which are  Asia-Pacific Rim group.
America 242.4 17.6% 337 7.2% 208.7 22.9% | 43.0%|  23.4%| 46.8% served by subsidiaries, contributed the most to the
Asia/Pacific Rim 408.9 29.6% 361.5 76.9% 47.4 5.2% 12.2% 13.2% 4.7% region’s sales. Footwear increased by 7.6%, apparel by
Africa/Middle East 22.2 1.6% 2.9 0.6% 19.2 21%|  49.5%| -25.9%|  77.0% 1.3% and accessories by 6.8%.
- Total | 1,380.0  100.0% | 470.2  100.0%| 909.8 100.0% |  36.4%| 13.7%| 52.1%
I e e @) Strong sales growth in Africa and the Middle East
- by segment
KOOtWGI"” 2(15(2)'3 gg-ng ;g?-é fé-‘l‘Zf g;g-g gg-‘z'z;" ‘Z‘g-gg" 1;-(7)2;0 23-‘;2;" Consolidated sales in the Africa/ Middle East region subsidiary in South Africa showed better than expected
ppare . 3% . 1% 8 2% 9% .0% /% . o, o
Accessories 107.6 78% | 493 10.5% 583  64%| 53.2%| 91.6%|  30.9% improved by 77.0% to € 19.2 million compared to € 10.9  results for 2002.
D e T e T T e million in the previous year. In particular, PUMA's new
Total 1,380.0 100.0% 470.2 100.0% 909.8 100.0% 36.4% 13.7% 52.1%

m» Increase in Licensed Sales

Discrepancies may arise due to the use of rounded figures.

B) Sales in Europe exceed expectations

European sales exceeded expectations. Total sales
increased by 58.7%, from € 399.8 million to € 634.5
million. All markets contributed to this growth.
Segmented by product category the breakdown was as
follows: Footwear increased by a total of 73.4%, apparel

m» Strong growth in the Americas

Consolidated sales in the Americas increased by 46.8%,
from € 142.2 million to € 208.7 million. This significant
improvement is solely attributable to PUMA's development
in the USA where sales increased by 52.3%. On a
currency-adjusted basis, the amount increases to 61.0%,
and thereby reached a new peak with sales totaling USD

Worldwide net sales by product segment

million €

1.400—

1.200—

1.000—

800

600 —

400

200

0—

2000

2001

Accessories .
Apparel
Footwear .

2002

by 34.9%, and accessories by 32.7%. Germany, UK and
the Benelux also saw significant sales growth. The
unusually positive developments in France and Italy were
sustained.

179.3 million. Footwear sales rose by 48.1%, apparel by
101.0% and accessories by 55.5%. Despite the difficult
economic environment, sales in Latin America improved
by 7.2% to € 18.5 million.

Africa/Middle East .
Asia/Pacific Rim [l
America

Europe [l

Worldwide net sales by region

million €

1.400
1.200
1.000

-

600 —
400 —
200

0

2000 2001 2002

In addition to the significant improvement of consolidated
sales, sales generated by licensees also increased by
13.7%, from € 413.6 million to € 470.2 million. Currency-
adjusted, licensed sales were nearly € 500 million, an
increase of approximately 19%. Asia’s sales increased by

@) Brand sales worldwide total € 1.4 billion

Worldwide PUMA’s brand sales, which consist of
consolidated sales and licensed sales, saw a significant
improvement and increased by 36.4%, from € 1,011.7
million to € 1,380.0 million. Currency-adjusted, worldwide
branded sales increased by 40.1% to more than € 1.4
billion. Footwear sales improved by 44.8% to € 812.3
million, apparel by 20.9% to € 460.1 million and
accessories by 53.2% to € 107.6 million.

Footwear accounted for 58.9% (55.4%), apparel for
33.3% (37.6%) and accessories for 7.8% (6.9%) of

Net Sales Europe

million €

700 —
+58,7%
600—

500
400
+38,4%

300—

200

T T
2000 2001 2002

13.2% to € 361.5 million, Europe by 14.2% to € 72.1
million and the Americas by 23.4% to € 33.7 million. Sales
in Africa and the Middle East were slightly below the
previous year’s level.

worldwide brand sales. In terms of regions, branded sales
were broken down as follows: Europe 51.2% (45.8%),
the Americas 17.6% (16.8%), Asia/Pacific Rim 29.6%
(36.0%) and Africa/ Middle East 1.6% (1.5%).

Net Sales USA

milllon $

200
+61,0%

150—

+24,2%

100—

50 T T
2000 2001 2002
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PUMA Group
Management Income Statement 2002 2001 +/- %
€ Mio. % € Mio. %
Consolidated sales 909.8 100.0% 598.1 100.0% 52.1%
Costofgoodssold 5129  564% | 347.5  58.1% | 47.6%
Gross profit 396.9 43.6% 250.6 41.9% 58.4%
Royalty and commission income | 44.9 49% | 372 6.2% | 20.5%
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Marketing/Retail expenses 125.1 13.8% 86.9 14.5% 43.9%
Research, design and developement 24.2 2.7% 19.9 3.3% 22.0%
. Otherexpenses ] 1549  17.0% | 113.6  19.0% | 36.3%
el ] 3043  33.4% | 220.5  36:59% | 38.0%
EBITDA 137.5 151% | 674  11.3% | 104.0%
Deprecaion 125 4% 84 L4%| 49.5%
EBIT 125.0  13.7% | 59.0 9.9% | 111.8%
Financialresut 0.6 0.1% | - 1.6 -03% | -62.2%
BT aaa 137% | 574 0% | 116.6%
Income taxess 39.8 4.4% 17.3 2.9% | 130.1%
Tax rate 32.0% 30.1%
Minority interests 0.2 0.0% -0.5 -0.1%
Netearnings .| 89  93% | 397  66%]| 113.8%
Weighted average shares outstanding 15611 ] 15392 | 1.4%
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted 15908 | 15392 |l 3.3%
Bamnings per share in € ] A4 258 o ..]..1108%
Earnings per share, diluted in € 5.34 2.58 106.9%
Discrepancies may arise due to the use of rounded figures.
Quarterly sales developement 2001 [l EBT by quarter 2001 [l
2002 2002
million € million €
350 50
300 a0
250
200 309
150 20—
100 I
104
1 = B
0 T T T ] 0 T ]
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 33,1 24,1 48,6 18,6

1» Gross profit margin reaches record level

PUMA's gross profit margin saw yet another significant
improvement compared to the previous year and
achieved a new record level. Gross profit saw a
disproportionate increase of 58.4% from € 250.6 million
to € 396.9 million. In terms of percentage of sales, the
margin improved by 170 basis points from 41.9% to
43.6%. The footwear margin jumped from 42.2% to
44.3%, apparel improved from 41.2% to 41.7% and
accessories reached a margin of 44.8% compared to
41.7% in the previous year.

1» Increase in royalty and commission income

Income from royalty and commission saw a 20.5 %
increase from € 37.2 million to € 44.9 million. This
improvement was largely due to an increase in royalty

Report of the Board of Management

The margin in Europe improved from 43.9% to 44.7%, in
the Americas from 41.6% to 44.4%, and in the
Asia/Pacific Rim from 35.0% to 37.5%. The Africa/Middle
East region saw a slight decrease in the margin from
24.5% to 22.2%. The strategic expansion of the retail
business, a rising proportion of sales in the higher price
segment, and a shift in the product mix all contributed to
the overall margin increase.

income from Japan and Korea, which were positively
influenced by the Soccer World Cup.

1» Reduction in expenses as a percentage of sales stronger than expected

Selling, general and administration expenses developed
slower than sales. Total expenses could therefore be
significantly reduced by 350 basis points from 36.9% to
33.4% of sales. Thus, expenses clearly fell short of the
originally expected 35%-mark.

Investments in marketing and retail totaled € 125.1
million or 13.8% compared to € 86.9 million or 14.5% in
the previous year. This represents an increase of brand-
creating investments by € 38.2 million or 43.9% over the
previous year. Expenses for product development and

Gross Profit Margin

million €
500 — 45%
400 — - 43%
300 — 41%
200 - 39%
100— — 37%
0 35%

T T
2000 2001 2002

design rose by 22.0%, from € 19.9 million to € 24.2
million. Measured as a percentage of sales revenues,
expenses declined from 3.3% to 2.7%. Other selling,
general and administration expenses were reduced from
19.0% to 17.0% of sales.

SG&A as a percentage of sales

40% —

35% —

30% —

25%

T
2000 2001 2002



Report of the Board of Management

1» Depreciation and amortization at 1.4%

Depreciation and amortization increased by 49.5%, from
€ 8.4 million to € 12.5 million, largely as a result of expan-
sion of the retail business and the investments involved.
Scheduled goodwill amortization totaling € 1.1 million

1» New EBIT Record

The operating result (EBIT) more than doubled for the
second consecutive year, increasing by 111.8% to € 125.0
million. This represents a new record, and lies well above
the amount of € 59.0 million achieved in the previous

I» Strong increase in EBT

Earnings before taxes (EBT) increased by 116.6%, from
€ 57.4 million to € 124.4 million. Initial expectations that
had been upwardly adjusted several times during the year

1» Tax rate at 32%

Tax expenses increased from € 17.3 million to € 39.8
million. This equals a tax rate of 32% compared to

1» Profit increase of 114% exceeds expectations

Consolidated net income rose by 113.8% from € 39.7 million
to € 84.9 million thus exceeding management expectations
that were already revised during the year. In effect, the net
yield was 9.3% of sales compared to 6.6% in the previous

1» Dividend

PUMA AG, the parent company of the PUMA Group, discloses
a balance sheet profit of € 68.1 million for fiscal year 2002.
The aforementioned is based in accordance with German
accounting principles. The Board of Management will propose
a dividend of € 0.55 per share (previous year: € 0.30 per

EBIT Net earnings
as % of sales [l

million €
125+ — 14%
100 — — 12%
75 — 10%
50— — 8%
25— — 6%
0 T T 4%

2000 2001 2002

(€ 0.7 million in 2001) is included and largely refers to the
company take-over in Scandinavia in July 2001. Measured
as a percentage of sales, depreciation and amortization
remained unchanged from the previous year at 1.4%.

year. This significant improvement is attributed to strong
sales growth and a higher gross profit margin as well as
a decrease in expenses. The EBIT margin improved
considerably from 9.9% of sales to 13.7%.

were once again greatly exceeded. In 2002, gross return
on sales was 13.7% in 2002 in comparison to 9.6% in
2001.

30.1% in the previous year.

year. With an increase from € 2.58 to € 5.44, earnings per
share more than doubled, representing an increase of
110.8%. The diluted earnings per share amounted to
€ 5.34 in comparison to € 2.58 in the previous year.

share) at the Annual Shareholder’s Meeting on April 16, 2003.
This represents a dividend distribution totaling € 8.7 million
(previous year: € 4.6. million). The remaining balance sheet
profit of € 59.4 million (previous year: € 27.4 million) is to be
carried forward to the new accounting period.

Net Income Net Income
as % of sales [l

million €
100 — 10%
80— — 8%
60— — 6%
40— - 4%
20— — 2%
0 T 0%

T
2000 2001 2002
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Net Assets and Financial Position

1» Equity ratio improves despite higher balance sheet total

The balance sheet total increased by € 130.5 million or
33.0%, from € 395.4 million to € 525.8 million in 2002. A
significant part of the increase is the direct result of a
rising the cash position as well as a rise in inventories and
receivables due to growth. Equity improved by 42.7%,
from € 176.7 million to € 252.2 million. Despite the higher
balance sheet total, the equity ratio improved from 44.7%
to 48.0%.

The cash position rose from € 35.3 million to € 113.6
million. At the same time, bank liabilities of € 43.1 million
were reduced to € 19.3 million. The development reflects
an extraordinary positive cash flow. PUMA's net cash
position increased by € 102.1 million.

Inventories increased by 16.2%, from € 144.5 million
to € 167.9 million. Inventory turnover was continually
increased; this was due to an improvement in inventory
structure and a rise in advance orders.

Trade receivables and other receivables rose by 13.1%,
from € 120.2 million to € 136.0 million. Trade receivables
included in this item grew by 14.3%, which is significantly
below the sales increase of 46.5% in the last calendar
quarter. This means that the average duration of
outstanding days decreased, which reflects an
improvement in liquidity.

PUMA-Group

Consolidated Balance Sheet Structure 2002 2001 +/- %
€ Mio. % € Mio. %

Cash and cash equivalents 113.6 21.6% 221.7%

Inventories 167.9 31.9% 16.2%

Accounts receivables 136.0 25.9% 13.1%

Other short-term assets
Total current assets
Deferred income taxes
Long-term assets

7.8 1.5%
425.4 80.9%
23.8 4.5%

76.6 14.6%

Total assets 525.8 100.0% 395.4 100.0% 33.0%
Bank borrowings 19.3 3.7% 43.1 10.9% -55.3%
Other liabilities 165.1 31.4% | 1166  29.5% | 41.6%
Total current liabilities 184.4 351% | 159.7  40.4% | 15.4%
Pension 17.9 3.4% 17.4 4.4% 2.9%
Tax provision 25.8 4.9% 2.5 0.6% 931.9%
Other provisions 45.1 8.6% | 371 9.4% | 21.6%
Provisions 88.8 16.9% | 57.0 1 14.4% | 55.7%
Long-term interest bearing borrowings and minorities 0.5 0.1% 1.9 0.5% -76.3%
Shareholders’ equity 252.2 48.0% 176.7 44.7% 42.7%
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 525.8 100.0% 395.4 100.0% 33.0%
Working Capital 114.0 110.3 3.3%
-in % of sales 12.5% 18.4%

Discrepancies may arise due to the use of rounded figures.
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1) Low working capital

Working capital was 12.5% of sales or € 114.0 million
compared to 18.4% or € 110.3 million in the previous
year. The working capital ratio is thus well below the
industry average of over 20%. Working capital is
determined on the basis of inventory plus short-term

B) Marked rise in gross cash flow

n the period under review, gross cash flow exceeded the
previous year’s level by 93.3%, rising to € 135.1 million.
The main factor contributing to this development is the
extraordinary increase in profits. Following changes in
short-term net working capital as well as tax payments,

1) Investments

Cash used for investment activities in 2002 totaled € 19.0
million, compared to € 40.8 million (including
acquisitions) in the previous year. Investments in
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
totaled € 22.5 million (€ 24.8 million). Of this, the amount
of € 11.8 million (€ 16.3 million) can be attributed to

Balance sheet / Equity ratio Equity ratio [l
Balance sheet
million €
600 — 520
500 L 50%
400— = 48%
300 - 46%
200 L 449
100 L 420
0 T T 40%
2000 2001 2002

receivables, net of short-term non-interest bearing
liabilities and provisions.

cash provided by operating activities was € 119.1 million
in comparison with € 43.7 million in the previous year.
Please note that income taxes for 2002 only lead to a
marginal outflow of funds due to the use of tax losses that
were carried forward from previous years.

investments associated with the strategic expansion of
the directly operated PUMA retail business. Fiscal year
2002 saw the opening of eight PUMA concept stores in
seven countries. A total of € 10.7 million (€ 8.5 million)
was spent on current investments.

as % of sales .
Working capital

Working capital

million €

150 — 30%
125 - 25%
100 - 20%
75 ./‘\‘ - 15%
50 - 10%

25 - 5%

0 0%

T T
2000 2001 2002

B Strong free cash flow

Taking into account the cash used for investing activities,
a free cash flow totaling € 100.1 million remains for fiscal
year 2002. This is equivalent to 11.0% of sales.

Cash used for financing activities totaled € 18.2 million. In
addition to dividend payments of € 4.6 million for 2001,
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€ 22.8 million were used to repay bank loans. In addition,
an inflow from capital payments amounting to € 10.0
million was recognized.

Liquid assets increased by € 78.3 million in total from
€ 35.3 million to € 113.6 million.

PUMA-Group
Cash flow 2002 2001 +/- %
€ Mio. € Mio.
Earnings before taxes on income 124.4 57.4 116.6%
Non cash effected expenses and income 10.7
135.1
6.4
-22.4
119.1
‘19,0 .48 | 533%
1001 | 30 | -
0% | 05% | .
d82 ain | e
Effect on exchange rates on cash -3.6 0.4 -
Change in cash and cash equivalents 78.3 -7.6 -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 35.3 42.9 -17.6%
Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 1136 | 353 | 217%

Discrepancies may arise due to the use of rounded figures.

Free cash flow
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Systematic Risk Management — A Central Basis for Decision-making Processes

In order to find a balance between profit opportunities
and loss exposure arising from entrepreneurial dealing,
risk evaluations are systematically integrated into the
decision-making processes in accordance with group
standards. PUMA operates in a market environment that
varies depending on business sector and economic
region. Cross-group reporting and control systems are a
means to identify, evaluate, and actively control risks. It
is PUMA's aim to limit risks in order to better capitalize on
opportunities.

The early detection of risks and their recording,
evaluation and monitoring is carried out by the
subsidiaries and the corporate headquarters. PUMA has
established a methodical and systematic management
reporting process that ensures that the Company Boards
receive regular updates on developments and changes in
existing and new risk fields. Risks are identified and
recorded in a risk portfolio, allocated to individual
corporate units and assessed with respect to their
potential damage and the probability of occurrence. The
guidelines defined in the risk manual, combined with
organizational instructions, form the basis for an efficient
internal monitoring system.

PUMA’s risk management instruments include
comprehensive planning tools such as strategic “OSAM
Planning” (OSAM = Objectives, Strategies, Actions,
Measurements), hedging instruments to safeguard
against exchange rate fluctuations, insurance policies,
controlling instruments, and an extensive monthly
financial reporting mechanism. PUMA has established a
reporting system that permits timely comparison of
business developments with those of the previous year
and with the budget levels defined for the current year on
a prorata temporis basis. Risk monitoring instruments
also include regular reporting to the Board of
Management, which, in turn, informs the Supervisory
Board on the current status and any changes in risks.

The Risk Management Committee (RMC) was founded
with the purpose of controlling and monitoring the risks

to which the Company is exposed. In 2002 it assessed the
development of identified risks in meetings and numerous
one-on-one interviews. The RMC provided the Board of
Management with reports on the respective results. The
RMC continues to cooperate closely with the operative
areas responsible for the permanent monitoring of all risk
fields. Although adjustments and additions have been
made in individual risk fields, this did not lead to any
significant change in the assessment of risks.

As in the previous year, significant business risks for the
PUMA Group are associated with the following areas:

Market risks:
Changes in market and fashion trends may influence sales
development.

In recent years, PUMA has positioned itself as the
alternative sports brand that successfully fuses the
influences from the worlds of sports, lifestyle and fashion.
Today, our product range encompasses sportlifestyle and
sports fashion models in addition to strictly sports
performance products. PUMA’s flexible corporate
structure permits a swift response to any changes in
today’s sports brand market which is vulnerable to fashion
trends and cyclical fluctuations. In addition, heavy
investments in product development are aimed at
integrating new market trends in the development and
design of new products at an early stage.

PUMA's presence in the largest sporting goods market in
the world, the United States, also involves risks due to
high volatility and difficult industry environment. On the
other hand, given this market’s importance in the industry
and the high standard it sets for global trends, the US
provides great opportunities to increase PUMA’s
competitiveness and achieve its goal of becoming the
world’s most desirable sports brand.

Together with positioning itself as the alternative sports
brand, PUMA made a strategic decision to open directly
operated retail stores (concept stores). The objective here
is to increase PUMA's presence and availability on the
market. In addition, this approach is a means to help
expose consumers to PUMA's entire product range. The
number of concept stores will increase from fifteen today
to forty by 2006. This goal brings long-term rental
commitments and investments which, given a high
proportion of fixed costs, may adversely affect results in
the event of a decline in sales.

PUMA copes with these market risks through strategic
planning, internationally-oriented corporate structure and
marketing concepts, a global product and product-range
policy, and efficient cost management.

Sourcing risks:
Cyclical, political or legal changes in general conditions.

PUMA co-operates with a large number of suppliers,
particularly in Asia and Eastern Europe. Diversifying
capacity reduces dependency on individual contracting
parties and ensures readiness to deliver product. China is
the biggest procurement market for footwear. There is a
potential sourcing risk in the event of spontaneously
levied import restrictions that would consequently apply
to almost all sporting shoe manufacturers. For some time
now, PUMA has cornered the new Vietnamese
procurement market together with its long-standing
partners. By diversifying existing capacities to several
procurement markets, the Company expects to be able to
respond quickly to any changes that may occur. It is
important to note that to date, there have been no
notable procurement problems.

Procurement risks also arise concerning compliance with
social standards by contract suppliers, and the use of
dangerous or illegal health-endangering substances
related to the product-manufacturing environment. PUMA
is among the forerunners in the industry and upholds
strict international environmental and social standards. To

21

Report of the Board of Management

ensure that these standards are upheld, the Company
enforces product controls at regular intervals and
continuously monitors its contract suppliers through an
internal control management function. PUMA's S.A.FE.
Programme (Social, Accountability, Fundamental,
Environmental) sets and monitors compliance to these
internationally recognized standards. Potential damage to
PUMA's image is therefore avoided. In recognition of its
continued and sustained improvement and control of
international environmental and social standards, PUMA
was commended for its economic ethics by the “Deutsche
Netzwerk fiir Wirtschafts-Ethik e.V.” (German Network for
Economic Ethics) in 2002.

Financial risks:
Exchange rate fluctuations, changes in the course of
business, and planning deviations.

PUMA is exposed to currency risks within the scope of its
global business operations. This risk is countered by an
internal foreign exchange policy in conjunction with
hedging transactions. Both primary and derivative
financial instruments are used to this end. These
instruments are explained in more detail in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

Within the scope of monthly reporting and regular
management meetings, further risks involved in operating
activities and the course of the business are closely
monitored in order to permit an early response should
problems arise.
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Organizational risks:

Global corporate orientation, decentralization of operating
units and a high level of growth increase complexity and
the requirements placed on technical systems; they
require continuous adjustment of merchandise and
logistics systems.

Within the scope of extensive strategic planning, business
processes are continuously optimized and adjusted to
support corporate growth. The optimization of key
processes is supported by IT systems that are regularly
reviewed and upgraded. In addition, technological
advances foster productivity and offer new market

Orderbook by product segment Accessories [l
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potential. PUMA implemented an international project
management function in order to monitor and increase
the efficiency of these processes.

Through its risk management system, PUMA complies
with the legal requirements concerning transparency and
control of companies (KonTraG). PUMA is able to
recognize any developments that may potentially
endanger the health of the Company at an early stage
and take swift, appropriate measures to counteract these
risks.
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1» Large order backlog confirms further growth

PUMA's order backlog increased from € 360.1 million to a
new record level of € 531.1 million, 47.5% higher than in
the previous year. The bulk of orders include deliveries in
the first and second quarter of financial year 2003.
Currency-adjusted, orders increased by 49.5%.

Footwear, the largest product category, saw further
strong growth. Footwear orders rose significantly by
48.4% to € 392.7 million. Apparel also saw a steady
increase in orders; the order volume picked up by 55.1%
to € 120.7 million. As such, the apparel segment’s growth
rate has surpassed that of footwear. Orders for
accessories amounted to € 17.6 million and remained at

1» Sales increase of more than 20 percent expected

In announcing the next phase (Phase III) of PUMA's
long-term corporate development plan, management
estimated the brand potential to be € 2 billion. The aim is
to achieve significant portions of this potential by the year
2006. In this context, an average double-digit growth rate
is expected per year, whereby growth should slow down
during the course of these years.

Given the impressive growth in 2002, from the present
perspective, management anticipates another currency-
adjusted sales increase of more than 20% for 2003. This
increase should be achievable despite higher base values
and would translate into a growth rate of over 20% for
the fifth consecutive year.

The gross profit margin is expected to range between
43% and 44% and should stabilize at this level. Selling,
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Outlook

last year’s level. On a regional basis, the order situation is
as follows: Europe increased by 50.7% to € 390.3 million,
America by 48% to € 110.9 million, Asia/Pacific Rim by
1.3% to € 17 million and Africa/Middle East by 37.8% to
€ 13 million.

general and administration expenses are expected to
develop in line with sales or at a slightly lower rate.
Income from royalty and commission should see single-
digit growth. This would result in an increase in income-
before-taxes relative to the expected increase in sales. In
the long term, we expect a tax rate of between 32% and
35%.

Management is optimistic regarding the continued
positive development in sales and earnings for 2003,
within the framework of the already introduced Phase III
of corporate planning. This should enable PUMA to gain
further market shares and expand its market position as
a desirable sports lifestyle brand.

Herzogenaurach, February 5, 2003

The Board of Management

Zeitz Gansler Heyd
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Value-Based Management

In an effort to best pursue the interests of our
share-holders, our value-based management aims
at achieving a continuous increase in corporate
value. Our corporate planning process is oriented

The absolute value contribution corresponds to the
difference between capital yield (CFROI) and capital costs
(WACC), multiplied by the gross investment basis. A
positive value contribution is generated if the capital yield

1» Financial Ratios

In addition to the value management method, PUMA uses
a series of other ratios that permit insight into
various areas of corporate performance and efficiency.

A selection of these ratios and their derivation is shown in
the box below:

towards the medium-term and focuses on a five s in excess of capital costs. 2002 2001 2000
year rolling outlook that is updated on an annual Gross Profit Margin
basis The principal indicator for measuring Capital costs represent the minimum yield that must be IAS Gross Profit / Net Sales 43.6% 41.9% 38.1%
economic success is the increase in absolute value generated by the capital invested. These costs are SG&A in % of Net Sales
contribution. This is derived from the following determined as the weighted average of equity and debt Sales-, General- and Admin. Cost / Net Sales 33.4% 36.9% 38.0%
elements: capital costs, taking the Capital Asset Pricing Model into Pre Tax Profit Margin
account. The following table shows the composition of Earnings bfore Income Tax / Net Sales 13.7% 9.6% 5.5%
PUMA uses Cash flow Return On Investment, CFROI, to PUMA's capital costs. Return on Capital Employed (RoCE)
measure capital yield. In simplified terms, this indicator Operating Income (EBIT) / Capital Employed (Working Capital + Long-term Assets - Long-term Liabilities) ~ 81.1% 32.8% 20.6%
represents the quotient from gross cash flow and the calculation of Weighted Average Capital Costs WACC Return on Equity
gross investment basis. The gross investment basis 2002 2001 2000 Group Earnings after Tax / Stockholders’ Capital 33.7% 22.5% 13.4%
includes all of the financial resources that are available to  Riskfree Interest Rate 4.3% 4.9% 4.9% Working Capital in € Mio.
the company, which represent productive assets, before  Market Premium 5.0% 5.0% Inventory + Accounts Receivables + Other Current Receivables
accumulated depreciation. Beta (M-DAX, 24 Month) 0.9 0.3 - Accounts Payables - Other Current Liabilities 114.0 110.3 78.8
Cost of Stockholders’ Equity ~ 9.3% | 9.4% | 6.5% Working Capital in % of Net Sales
Riskfree Interest Rate  43%| 49%| 4.9% Working Capital / Net Sales 12.5% 18.4% 17.0%
Calculation of CFROI and Value Contribution Credit Risk Premium 3.0% 3.0%
inT€ 2002 2001 2000 Tax Shield 30.1% | 31.2%
Earnings after Tax 84,659 | 40,152| 17572  Costof Liabilities after Tax ~  5.0% | | 5.6%| 5.4%
+ Depreciation / Amortization 12,486| 8353| 6,768  Share of Stockholders’ Equity ~ 48.0% | 44.7% | 42.1%
+ Interest Expenses 2,456 3,563 3,789 Share of Liabilities 55.3% 57.9%
Gross Cash flow 99,601| 52,068| 28,129 WACCafterTax  7.0%)]| 7.3% | 5.9%
Monetary assets 249,965 | 155,954 | 152,887
- Non Interest-Bearing Liabilities 225,878 | 154,399 | 125815 The advantage of the value contribution / CFROI, in
Net Liquidity 24,086 1,555| 27,072 comparison to other indicators, is in the use of the profit-
+ Inventory 167,906 | 144,505 | 95,003 oriented cash flow which reflects real financial flows and
+ Fixed Assets at Prime Cost 88,112 | 77,031| 51,869 liquidity status and therefore serves as an excellent
+ Intangible Assets at Prime Cost 29,199 indicator of financing power. With reference to the gross
ves investment basis the Company is viewed as an
Cash flow Return on Investment  32.2% investment from which the capital provider — the
(CFROI) shareholder — receives interest in the form of profits.
CFROI - WACC 25.2% | 13.4% | 9.3%
Absolute Value Contribution (EVA) 77,847 | 33,754 17,275 _ -
Cash flow return / Gross investment 2000-2002 2002 Absolute value contribution 2002
2001 [l 2001 [
2000 [l 2000 [l

1) Sustained increase in corporate value

In the reporting year 2002 PUMA achieved an ex-
traordinary increase in corporate value: This was attained
through both the increase in capital (gross investment
basis) from € 251.3 million to € 309.3 million, and the
increased return on capital invested (Cash flow Return)
from 20.7 % to 32.2 %, consequently an overall increase
of 130.6 % was realized.

PUMA has thus succeeded in increasing profitability while,
at the same time, achieving capital growth. In effect, the
nominal value contribution during the financial year rose
by € 44.1 million to € 77.8 million. The value contribution
has seen continuous improvement since the introduction
of the indicator in 1999.

35%
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Another Record Year for the PUMA'’s Stock

The year 2002 was characterized by substantial turmoil
on the international financial markets. As a result,
significant drops in equity prices were seen throughout
the world: the DAX lost just under 44% in value during
2002 whereas the MDAX showed a somewhat better
performance with a drop of 30%. In a year-on-year
comparison, the FTSE Eurotop-300 closed with a loss of
33% while the Nikkei-225 lost 19%. For the first time
since 1941 the US stock exchanges closed with a
consecutive three year drop: the DOW-30 and S&P-500
lost 17% and 23% respectively.

The slacking of the global economy was one of the
principle reasons behind the weakness in the capital
markets. The resulting price losses have led to an
intensifying cycle of price declines and setbacks in
economic activity. Mood indicators that became noticeably
depressed as of the middle of the year supported this
assessment

Moreover, investor’s confidence was shattered as a result
of the accounting scandals in the USA. In consequence,
doubts surfaced regarding the published earnings
performance of all US companies. In effect, despite the
price declines in recent years, indicators such as the
price-earnings ratio appeared in a far less favorable light.

Key data per share in € (IAS)

Year end value— 17,20 12,70 34,05

Yearly high— 20,50 21,00 34,05

Yearly low—| 12,30 12,50 12,45

Earnings per share—| 0,62 1,14 2,58

Cash flow_| 1,91 2,20 4,53
per share

Free Cash flow_| 0,05 0,59 1,46
per share

Shareholders’ equity _| 7,29 8,53 11,48
per share

T T T
1999 2000 2001 2002

A further important reason for the equity markets’ poor
performance was the increase in geopolitical risk as
characterized by the Far East conflict or the Iraq crisis.

As in the previous year, PUMA's share showed an excellent
appreciation despite the generally negative market
environment; it was supported by both the strong sales
growth and the disproportionate rise in income. PUMA
was thus able to maintain its position as one of the fastest
growing firms in the sporting goods industry.

After having ended 2001 with a record performance of
€ 34.05, PUMA's stock achieved a new record high of
€ 73.60 on June 28, 2002. Generally lower prices in the
third quarter lead to a preliminary drop in PUMA's share
price to € 47. However, within the scope of stock price
recovery PUMA's stock closed at € 65.03 in the XETRA
Exchange on December 30, 2002. This marked a stock
price appreciation of 91% in 2002.

Earnings / Dividend per share Dividend [l

Earnings per share

in € in €
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From a stock market perspective, 2002 was another
record year for the PUMA share. Continuing the previous
year’s trend, PUMA recorded the second highest price
increase of all shares listed on the DAX100. With its
outstanding performance in 2002, the PUMA share
significantly exceeded the price development of other
international high-profile sporting goods manufacturers.

Since 1986 PUMA's stock has been traded on the official
markets of the Frankfurt and Munich stock exchanges.
From 2003, the PUMA share will be listed in the newly

Share performance and transaction volume

million €
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created Prime Standard Segment and is therefore
excellently positioned to continue to belong to the Mid-
Cap-Index MDAX of the Deutsche Borse which will be
reduced to 50 components. In addition, the ADR Program
(American Depository Receipts) was established for the
US stock market in 1996. The ADR’s are traded in US-
Dollars in OTC trading under "PMMAY".
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Our employees’ performance is exceptional

PUMA has been growing steadily for quite a number of
years and our success is directly attributable to our Team
Members’ exceptional performance. Between 1999 and
2002, sales grew by an average of 34.6% per year and by
more than 50% in the past year. On a weighted average
calculation, our Team Member base only grew by 16.6%
during the same time period. This resulted in a marked
increase in per capita sales from T€ 269.5 in 1999 to
T€ 415.0 in 2002.

On an annual average, PUMA employed 2,192 people in
2002 compared to 1,717 in the previous year. As at
December 12, 2002, the number of Team Members was
2,387, or 375 more than at the end of the previous year.

Based on the continuous expansion of the retail business,
the employee base in the sales division showed the

1) Corporate culture

PUMA encourages an open and amicable corporate
culture. We foster individual growth and promote that the
traditional should be brought together with new and
unconventional ways of thinking.

By supporting common values that are compatible with
the brand’s personality, we are making every effort to
further develop the Company. These common values can
be summed up in four concepts: Passion, Openness, Self-
belief and Entrepreneurship. PUMA supports and
encourages communication across all cultural borders and
thereby creates the conditions in which creativity,
understanding, social competence and flexibility come
into being. With the help of a decentralized corporate
management, PUMA can react flexibly to market changes

Team Members (End of Year) .
Team Members (Average) [l
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hightest growth rate. The 2002 yearly average for head-
count growth in this segment was +40%, bringing the
retail base to 888 employees. As of the December 12th,
2002 reporting date, there were 1,019 persons employed
in PUMA's worldwide distribution. This represents an
increase of 31.6% over the previous year.

The number of Team Members in the marketing sphere
grew by 11 or +13.1% on an annual average. Product
management / development increased by 30 or +17.4%,
and the field of procurement / logistics saw an increase of
129 or +25.5% on an annual average. The central units
(general administration) increased by 51 or 16.1%.

and so follows its corporate guideline to be “the first truly
virtual sports company”.

Furthermore, the internal and external networking of
employees and business partners is being systematically
expanded through the use of the latest internet
technology as well as a decentralized corporate structure.
Together these form the infrastructure for further growth.

It is our aim to acknowledge and support the efforts of
each Team Member. To this end, regular Performance
Appraisals are held between employees and their
supervisors during which current performance and future
targets are discussed and agreed upon.

Sales per Employee
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1» Management incentive and bonus program

In order to support management in the creation of
corporate value, conditional capital for the financing of a
Management Incentive Program was made available at
the Annual Shareholder’s Meeting. As part of the existing
program, a second tranche has been extended to an
enlarged employee base. In total, 435,000 options were
issued to management during the past year. The
applicable terms and conditions can be found in the notes
to the annual financial statements under footnote 18,
“Equity Capital”. As of the balance sheet date, 650,286
options were available, which will probably be used during
the next two years to grant further option rights to PUMA
AG Board members, members of the executive bodies of

Team Members by Expertiese (End of Year)
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affiliated companies, as well as to PUMA AG executives
and affiliated companies.

Incentive programs are intended to retain competent and
to help ensure the company’s success through continuity
of Team Members. In addition to the options program,
bonus agreements have been made with Team Members
at all levels in the PUMA Group. These are oriented to
personal performance, the success of a business
segment, as well as the success of the entity as a whole.
These measures provide PUMA with a variable,
performance based remuneration system in addition to
fixed salaries.

Procurement/Logistics/Production
Administration .

Product Management/Developement
Marketing .

Sales/Retail
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Dec. 31, 2002

Dec. 31, 2001
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Consolidated Income Statement

Notes T-€ T-€
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 113,575 35,308
Inventories 4 167,906 144,505
Trade receivabbles and other receivables 5 135,996 120,237
Other short term financial assets 6 7,937 6,602
Total current assets 425,414 306,652
Deferred income taxes 7 23,796 17,036
Property, plant and equipment 8 56,842 50,033
Goodwill 9 13,822 15,074
Other intangible assets 10 4,931 4,888
Other long-term financial assets 11 1,032 1,700
525,837 395,383
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Financial liabilities 12 19,270 43,100
Trade payables 13 117,858 88,614
Other liabilities 13 47,247 28,006
Liabilities 184,375 159,720
Pension 14 17,925 17,416
Tax provisions 15 25,756 2,496
Other provisions 15 45,085 37,086
Provisions 88,766 56,998
Long-term interest bearing borrowings 16 61 1,143
Minority interest 17 399 796
Subscribed capital PUMA AG 18 40,564 39,497
Reserves PUMA AG 18 82,727 32,676
Other Group reserves 18 2,451 17,611
Accumulated profits 18 126,494 86,942
Shareholder’s equity 252,236 176,726
525,837 395,383

2002 2001
Notes T-€ T-€
Net sales 25 909.778 598.075
Cost of sales 25 -512.877 -347.464
Gross profit 25 396.901 250.611
Royalty and commission income 44.896 37.247
441.797 287.858
Personal expenses 19 -102.967 -81.103
Advertising and selling costs 20 -114.054 -77.294
General and administrative expenses 20 -114.112 -81.901
Other operating income 20 26.857 19.839
Total selling, general and administrative expenses, net -304.276 -220.459
Depreciation Vo 7l2486 | 8353
................ 316762 |  -228812
Profit from operations 125.035 59.046
Financial result 21 -609 -1.613
Earnings before tax 124.426 57.433
Income tax 22 -39.767 -17.281
Net earnings before minority interest 84.659 40.152
Minority interest 222 -450
Net earnings 84.881 39.702
Net earnings per share (€) 23 5,44 2,58
Net earnings per share (€) - diluted 23 5,34 2,58
Weighted average shares outstanding 15,611 15,392
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 15,908 15,392
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Consolidated Cash flow Statement Changes in Equity
2002 2001 Subscribed Capital Revenue | Difference Cash flow |Consolidated TOTAL
Notes T-€ T-€ capital reserve reserves from Hedges profit/
PUMA AG PUMA AG currency net income
Operating activities translation for the year
Profit before tax 124,426 57,433
Adjustments for: in T-€
Depreciation 8,9,10 12,486 8,353 Dec. 31, 2000 39,344 31,981 208 8,843 2,074 48,814 131,264
Non-realized currency gains/losses, net -2,959 1,669
Interest received 21 -1,849 -1,949 Dividend payment -1,574 -1,574
Interest paid 21 2,456 3,562 Currency changes 2,694 2,694
Income from the sale of fixed assets 30 66 Release to the income
Additions to pension accruals 14 509 543 statement 1,660 1,660
Market value for
Gross-Cash flow 26 135,099 69,677 cash flow hedges 2,340 2,340
Capital increase 98 542 640
Increase in receivables and other current assets -21,098 -15,281 Currency translation in € 55 -55
Increase in inventories -29,743 -36,081 Consolidated profit 39,702 39,702
Increase in trade payables and
other current liabilities 57,239 25,629 Dec. 31, 2001 39,497 32,523 153 11,537 6,074 86,942 176,726
Cash provided by operations 141,497 43,944
Interest paid -2,456 -3,657 Dividend payment -4,629 -4,629
Income taxes paid -16,502 -7,601 Transfer to profit reserves 40,700 -40,700
One time expenses paid -3,447 11,056 Currency changes -8,899 -8,899
Release to the income
Net cash from operating activities 26 119,092 43,742 statement -5,247 -5,247
Market value for
Cash flows from financing activities cash flow hedges -1,014 -1,014
Payments for goodwill (previous year: purchase of participations) 0 -19,500 Capital increase 1,067 9,351 10,418
Purcase of property and equipment 8,9,10 -22,545 -24,836 Consolidated profit 84,881 84,881
Proceeds form sale of property and equipment 905 1,381
Increase/decrease in other long term assets 658 -20 Dec. 31, 2002 40,564 41,874 40,853 2,638 -187 126,494 252,236
Interst received 1,951 2,204
Net cash used in investing activities 26 -19,031 -40,771
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments made regarding long-term liabilities, net 96 -1,426
Payments received regarding short-term bank borrowing, net 12 -22,799 -7,852
Payments made regarding convertible bonds, net 16 -1,082 -747
Dividend payments 18 -4,629 -1,574
Capital increase 10,021 640
Other changes 222 4
Net cash used in financing activities 26 -18,171 -10,955
Effect on exchange rates on cash -3,623 430
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 78,267 -7,554
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 35,308 42,862
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 3,26 113,575 35,308
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Statement of Movement of Property, Plant and Equipment as well as Intangible Assets and

other Long-Term Assets

Purchase costs

Balance| Currency| Additions/| Disposals Balance
Jan. 1, 2002 changes| retransfers Dec. 1,2002
and other
T-€| changes T-€
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land, land rights and buildings
including buildings on third party land 26,941 -375 3,050 1,666 27,950
Technical equipments and machines 4,715 -1,413 195 338 3,159
Other equipments, factory and office equipment 44,128 -4,169 16,866 1,977 54,848
Payments on account and assets under construction 1,247 -45 953 0 2,155
| 77,031 -6,002| 21,064 3,981 88,112
GOODWILL 17,654 -204 0 0 17,450
OTHER INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Concessions, industrial and similar rights and assets
and licenses under such rights and assets 10,511 -154 1,464 73 11,748
| 10,511 -154| 1,464 73| 11,748
OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS
Other loans 411 0 8 26 393
Otherassets | 1289) 0 0 6% 639
1,700 -10 8 666 1,032
Accumulated depreciation Book values
Balance| Currency| Additions/| Disposals Balance Balance Balance
Jan. 1, 2002 changes| retransfers Dec. 1,2002 | | Dec.31,2002 | Dec. 31,2001
and other
T-€| changes T-€ T-€ T-€
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land, land rights and buildings
including buildings on third party land 7,386 -147 902 1,651 6,490 21,460 19,555
Technical equipments and machines 1,251 -1,330 885 197 609 2,550 3,464
Other equipments, factory and office equipment 18,361 -1,315 8,368 1,243 24,171 30,677 25,767
Payments on account and assets under construction | | o o o o 0| 2,155| 1,247
26,998 -2,792| 10,155 3,091 31,270 56,842 50,033
GOODWILL 2,580 -47 1,095 0 3,628 13,822| 15,074
OTHER INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Concessions, industrial and similar rights and assets
and licenses under such rights and assets 5,623 3 1,236 45 6,817 4,931 4,888
| 5623 3| 1,236 45| 6817/ 4,931 4,888
OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS
Other loans 0 0 0 0 0 393 411
Other assets 0 0 0 0 0| 67397777”77”17,7278797
o o o o [} 1,032| 1,700

1» 1. General remarks

Under the brand name “PUMA", PUMA Aktiengesellschaft
Rudolf Dassler Sport (hereinafter "PUMA AG”) and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the development and
marketing of a broad range of sports and leisure articles
including footwear, apparel and accessories under the
“PUMA”" brand name. The Company is a joint stock
company under German law and has its registered head
office in Herzogenaurach, Federal Republic of Germany;
its responsible registration court is in Firth (Bavaria,
Germany).

The consolidated financial statements of PUMA AG and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter the "Company” or "PUMA"), were
prepared in accordance with the International Accounting
Standards (“IAS") issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). All IAS and SIC interpretations
required for the financial years from January 1, 2002 have
been applied. IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Reporting
and Valuation™ have been applied since the 1999 financial
year.

The Company prepared consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IAS for the first time in 1993;
deviations from the provisions set out in the German
Commercial Code (HGB), as of January 1, 1993, were
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

offset with neutral effect on operating profits. The IAS
consolidated financial statements for 2002 are regarded
as exempt consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Section 292a (2) HGB.

In certain items the International Accounting Standards
deviate from generally accepted accounting and valuation
principles applicable in the Federal Republic of Germany
and as set out in the German Commercial Code.
Significant deviations relate to the treatment of deferred
tax assets resulting from temporary valuation differences
and future tax benefits from losses carried forward. Other
deviations relate to the treatment of U.S. trademarks
and other rights, which were sold in 1989 and
repurchased in 1995, and not capitalized for IAS
purposes. Furthermore, the application of IAS 39 results
in accounting, which differs from HGB. The remaining
differences are immaterial.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
Euro currency; they are in compliance with EU Directive
83/349, and are based on the interpretation of the
directive pursuant to DRS 1 of the German Accounting
Standards Committee.

1» 2. Significant consolidation, accounting and valuation principles

Consolidation principles

The consolidated financial statements are based on
uniform accounting and valuation methods applied to the
individual financial statements of PUMA AG and its
consolidated subsidiaries; these have been prepared in
accordance with IAS and audited by independent
auditors; additional information within the scope of group
reporting was taken into account.

When subsidiaries are consolidated for the first time, their
acquisition values are offset against the subsidiary’s
equity capital at book values.

Intra-group receivables and liabilities have been offset.
Any differences from exchange rate fluctuations are
included in consolidated earnings to the extent that they
occurred in the reporting period.

Within the course of consolidating profits, inter-company
sales and all significant intra-group income were offset
against the expenses attributable to them. Interim profits
not yet realized within the group have been eliminated as
inter-company profits.
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Companies included in consolidation
In addition to PUMA AG, all directly and indirectly Development in the number of group companies during
affiliated companies are included in consolidation. the financial year is as follows:

Dec. 31, 2001 39
Newly founded companies 2
Disposal of companies 1
Dec. 31, 2002 40
Broken down by region, the consolidated companies were as follows on December 31, 2002:
No. Companies Shareholder/No.
Western Europe
1. PUMA AG Rudolf Dassler Sport, Herzogenaurach/Germany
- parent company - -
2. PUMA UNITED KINGDOM LTD, Leatherhead/Great Britain 1
3. PUMA FRANCE SAS, Illkirch/France 1
4, PUMA (Schweiz) AG, Lengnau bei Biel/Switzerland 1
5. Austria PUMA Dassler Ges. m.b.H., Salzburg/Austria 1
6. PUMA Benelux B.V., Leusden/The Netherlands 1
7. PUMA TItalia S.r.l., Milan/Italy 1
8. Tretorn AB, Helsingborg/Sweden 1
9. PUMA Nordic AB, Helsingborg/Sweden 8
10. PUMA Norway AS, Oslo/Norway 9
11. PUMA Finland Oy, Finland 9
12. PUMA Denmark A/S, Skanderborg/Denmark 8
13. Tretorn Sweden AB, Helsingborg/Sweden 8
14. Tretorn Vertrieb GmbH, Herzogenaurach/Germany 1
15. Tretorn Finland Oy, Helsinki/Finland 8
16. Tretorn Sport Ltd., Laoise/Ireland 8
17. Tretorn Tennis Ltd., Laoise/Ireland (non-active) 8
18. Tretorn Sport Sales Ltd., Laoise/Ireland 8
19. Tretorn R&D Ltd., Laoise/Ireland (non-active) 16
20. Hunt Sport AB, Helsingborg/Schweden (non-active) 8
21. PUMA Portugal Artigos Desportivos Lda., Prior Velho/Portugal 3 (51%)
Eastern Europa
22. PUMA Polska Spolka z.0.0., Warsaw/Poland 5
23. PUMA-RUS GmbH, Moscow/Russia 5 (89%) and 1 (11%)
24, PUMA Hungary Kft., Budapest/Hungary 5
25. Czech PUMA Dassler s.r.0., Prage/Czech Republic 5

Asia/Pacific Rim
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26. PUMA Australia Pty. Ltd., Moorabbin/Australia 1

27. - White Diamond Australia Pty. Ltd. , Moorabbin/Australia (non-active) 26

28. - White Diamond Properties, Moorabbin/Australia (non- active) 26

29. PUMA New Zealand LTD, Auckland/New Zealand 26

30. World Cat Ltd., Kowloon/Hong Kong 1

31. - World Cat (S) Pte Ltd./Singapore 30

32. - World Cat Trading Co.Ltd Taichung/Taiwan 30

33. Development Services Ltd. , Kowloon/Hong Kong 30

34. PUMA FAR EAST Ltd. , Kowloon/Hong Kong 1
America

35. PUMA North America, Inc., Westford/USA 1

36. PUMA Canada, Inc. Ontario/Canada (non-active) 35

37. PUMA CHILE S.A. Santiago/Chile 1 (51 %)

38. PUMA Sports Ltda., Sao Paulo/Brazil 5 (70 %)
Africa/Middle East

39. PUMA Sports S.A., Cape Town/South Africa 5

40. PUMA SPORTS DISTRIBUTORS (PTY) LIMITED, Cape Town/South Africa 5

PUMA AG holds a direct or indirect interest of 100% in the
companies included in consolidation (except PUMA Chile
and PUMA Portugal = 51%, PUMA Brazil = 70%).

In financial year 2002 the companies of “"PUMA Portugal
Artigos Desportivos Lda.", Portugal, and "PUMA Sports
Ltda.®, Brazil, were founded. PUMA Portugal began its
active business, namely the servicing and working of the
Portuguese market, in March 2002. PUMA Brazil was
founded at the end of the year. No significant transactions
have as yet been concluded during the reporting year.

The companies have no material effect on the group’s net
assets, financial position and results of operations.

The investment (51%) in “Real de Tenis S.A., Mexico",
was sold to the joint venture partner with effect from
March 5, 2002; this has not significantly impacted net
assets, the financial position or results of operations.

A list of investment holdings as of December 31, 2002 is
recorded in the Firth (Bavaria) Commercial Register
under HRB 3175.
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Currency translation

As a general rule, foreign currency monetary items are
disclosed in the individual financial statements of
consolidated companies at the rates valid on the balance
sheet date. The resulting currency gains and losses are
immediately credited or charged to operations.

The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries that do
not recognize the Euro currency as their functional
currency were translated into Euro at the middle rates

valid at the balance sheet date. Expenses and income
were translated at annual average rates. Differences from
net assets currency translation and changed exchange
rates in comparison with the previous year were netted
with neutral effect on operating results and shown
separately in equity.

The following translation rates were applied to translate
the annual financial statements to Euro:

Average rates during the financial year Rates at the balance sheet date

2002 2001 Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
1€=USD 0.9459 0.8943 1.0494 0.8823
1€ =CAD 1.4847 1.3845 1.6536 1.4101
1€ =GBP 0.6279 0.6195 0.6509 0.6091
1€ =CHF 1.4673 1.5096 1.4549 1.4804
1€ =HKD 7.3762 6.9729 8.1600 6.8800
1€ =AUD 1.7422 1.7361 1.8550 1.7380
1€ =NzD 2.0420 2.1384 1.9910 2.1290
1€=CLP 645.0148 565.1750 729.4780 577.4700
1€ =PLN 3.8475 3.6581 4.0200 3.4900
1€ = HUF 242.9662 257.0662 236.1000 245.9550
1€=CzZK 30.8877 33.1475 31.5400 31.9500
1€ = SEK 9.1527 9.4554 9.1696 9.3326
1 € = DKK 7.4301 7.6130 7.4264 7.3659
1€ = NOK 7.5226 8.2221 7.2803 7.8823
1€ =12AR 9.8685 9.1225 9.0700 10.5000

Derivative financial instruments /

hedge accounting

Derivate financial instruments are initially recorded in the
balance sheet at acquisition costs and subsequently at
market values. The recording of gains or losses depends
on the type of items to be hedged. At the time of
concluding a hedge transaction, the Company classifies
certain derivatives either as a hedge of the fair value of a
reported asset or a reported liability (fair value hedge), as
a hedge of a planned transaction (cash flow hedge) or
as a hedge of a net investment in an economically
independent foreign subsidiary.

Changes in the market value of derivatives which are
used for and qualify as a cash flow hedge and that are
100% effective, are disclosed in equity. In the absence of
100% effectivity, the differences are included in operating

Segment reporting

Reporting is primarily based on geographical regions.
PUMA is engaged in only one business field, the sporting
goods industry. The secondary reporting allocation

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include liquid funds such as
cash-on-hand and bank balances. Bank balances that are

Inventories

Inventories are valued at acquisition or manufacturing
costs or at the lower net realizable values derived from
the selling price at the balance sheet date. Acquisition
cost of merchandise is determined using the average cost

Receivables and other short term assets

Trade receivables and other receivables as well as
financial assets are stated at nominal value net of value
adjustments. All recognizable risks are sufficiently
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results. The amounts recorded as a special item under
equity are included in operating results in the same period
in which the planned hedge transaction impacts the
income statement. The gains or losses from derivative
financial instruments used as a fair value hedge and the
respective gains or losses from the hedged item are
recognized in operating results.

therefore follows the internal reporting structure, e.g.
based on the footwear, apparel and accessories product
segments.

not required to finance current assets are invested in the
Euro currency market for a period of up to six months.

method. Value adjustments are determined in a uniform
manner throughout the group, depending on the age of
the goods concerned. Risks owing to fashion trends are
adequately taken into account.

accounted for in the form of individual risk assessment or
on the basis of historical values.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost net of accumulated depreciation. The depreciation
periods depend on the item’s useful life. As a general rule,

the straight-line method of depreciation is applied. The
useful life depends on the type of assets involved:

Depreciation
period

Buildings

Machines, machine equipment and technical equipment,
business and factory equipment

Cost of maintenance and repair is recorded as an expense
at the time of origin. Significant improvements and
renewals are capitalized. Interest on outside capital is
reported as a current expense.

Leased items regarded as significant in terms of their
amounts and qualifying as finance leasing are shown

Extraordinary depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
goodwill are subject to extraordinary depreciation or
amortization if there are indications of an impairment in
the value of the asset involved. In such a case, the
recoverable amount (the higher amount from net
realizable proceeds and utility value), is compared with

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets largely consist of concessions
and industrial and similar rights; they are valued at
acquisition costs net of accumulated depreciation. The

10 to 50 years
3 to 10 years

under property, plant and equipment at the amount of the
fair value or the lower present value of the minimum lease
payments.

the book value of the asset. If the recoverable value is
lower than the book value, the asset is written down to
the recoverable amount (IAS 36). If the reason for
extraordinary depreciation or amortization no longer
exists, the asset is revalued; the revaluation amount may
not exceed the amount of continued acquisition costs.

depreciation period is between three to five years,
whereby the straight-line method of depreciation is
applied.

Goodwill

Goodwill is valued at acquisition costs net of accumulated
amortization. The goodwill relates to the companies in
Great Britain, New Zealand and Sweden/Scandinavia.

Goodwill from equity consolidation relating to New
Zealand dates from 1999; it is amortized over a five-year
period. Amortization with respect to Great Britain and the
Swedish Tretorn Group is based on the straight-line
method over a 15-year period which corresponds to the

Other long-term financial assets
Other long-term financial assets are stated at acquisition
costs; they include loans and other assets. As a genera

Financial liabilities

As a general rule, financial liabilities also include the
portion of long-term loans with residual terms of up to
one year.

Liabilities
Liabilities are reported at their repayable amounts.
Liabilities from finance leasing agreements are carried as

Provisions for pensions and similar commitments
In general, pension accruals are determined in
accordance with the projected unit credit method. This
method not only accounts for annuities and accrued
pension benefits known at the balance sheet date, but
also for expected salary and annuity increases. Actuarial
gains and losses are distributed over the average residual
term of service. No use is made of the 10 percent
‘corridor’ approach described in IAS 19.92. The service
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expected useful life. The goodwill reported for Great
Britain dates from 1999, the goodwill reported for Tretorn
dates from 2001.

rule, non-interest bearing assets are discounted to their
present values.

a liability at the amount of the present value of the lease
rentals.

cost and interest component are disclosed within
personnel expenses.

There are no pension commitments concerning active
PUMA AG Board members. Corresponding compensation
is included in the remuneration concerning Board
members.
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Other provisions

In accordance with IAS 37, other accruals were set up on
the balance sheet date to account for all risks and
obligations resulting from past transactions or events
where amounts or maturities were uncertain. The
accruals are stated at their settlement amount; they are

Share option plans / Management Incentive
Program

In 1996 PUMA introduced a Management Incentive Plan
for the Board and management of PUMA AG and its
subsidiaries.

Through the issue of convertible bond and share options,
those participating in the program are given the
opportunity to acquire PUMA shares within a defined
period and at a defined price. Conditional capital is
created for the financing of these shares. Attention is

Recognition of sales revenues
Sales revenues are recognized and included in profits at
the time of the passage of risks.

Royalty and commission income

Royalty income is treated as income in accordance with
the invoices to be presented by the licensees worldwide.
In certain cases, values must be assessed in order to

Advertising and promotion expenses
The Company recognizes advertising expenses at the time
of their occurrence. As a general rule, promotion

Product development

The Company is continuously engaged in developing new
products in order to comply with market requirements or
market changes. The costs are recorded as an expense at

not off set against positive income. Accruals are also
created to account for unfavorable contracts where the
unavoidable costs exceed the economic benefit expected
from the contract.

drawn here to paragraph 18 of these Notes.

Share option plans are reported using the intrinsic value
method. Since the intrinsic value on the day of granting
the options was zero, they were not accounted for in the
balance sheet. It will therefore not be necessary to report
costs arising from existing option plans in the future.

Sales are disclosed net of returned purchases, discounts,
rebates, and advertising cost.

permit accounting on an accrual basis. Commission
income is invoiced to the extent that the underlying
purchase transaction is realized.

expenses are spread over the contract term, provided
that income of at least the same amount is expected.

the date of origin; they are not capitalized since the
criteria specified in IAS 38 are not fulfilled.

Financial result

The financial result includes interest income from financial
investments and interest expense from credits. In
general, effects from exchange rate fluctuations are
included in general expenses; where such effects

Income taxes

Incomes taxes are determined in accordance with local
tax regulations in the countries where the respective
company is active.

The Company determines deferred taxes for all temporary
differences between the book values and the tax-based

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes from time differences between the tax and
the commercial balance sheet valuation of individual
group companies and from consolidation procedures are
netted according to tax country and disclosed either as
deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax
assets also include tax reduction claims resulting from the

Assumptions and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
is in part based on assumptions and estimates which have
an impact on the amount and disclosure of the reported
assets and liabilities, income expenses and contingencies.
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resulting from derivative financial instruments are to be
allocated directly to an underlying transaction, disclosure
is made in the respective income statement item.

valuation of assets and liabilities as well as for tax losses
carried forward.

expected use of existing loss carryforwards in subsequent
years if their realization is probable. Deferred taxes are
determined on the basis of tax rates applicable for
reversal in the individual countries and announced or in
effect on the balance sheet date. In addition, deferred
taxes that result from hedge accounting are recognized.

The actual values may in some cases deviate from such
assumptions and estimates. Changes are recognized as
expense or income at the time of receiving the respective
information (contingencies).
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1» 3. Cash and cash equivalents

The term of deposit investments included is usually
between one and three months; at present, interest

1» 4. Inventories

Inventories are divided into the following main categories:

rates are between 1.0% and 2.8% (previous year:

1.7% and 3.2%).

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001

net net

T-€ T-€

Raw materials and supplies 1,055 498
Finished goods and merchandise

Footwear 79,644 64,369

Apparel 46,571 49,285

Accessoriess/Others 11,557 13,166

Goods in transit 60,900 41,307

Inventories, gross 199,727 168,625

Value adjustments -31,821 -24,120

Inventories, net 167,906 144,505

Of the total amount of reported inventories, the amount
of T-€ 27,986 (previous year: T-€ 19,083) is stated at its
net realizable value.

1» 5. Trade receivables and other receivables

Receivables are made up as follows:

Goods in transit relate to merchandise from suppliers in
the Far East and Eastern Europe, largely for subsidiaries
in Europe and the USA.

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001

T-€ T-€

Trade receivables 135,023 118,641
Other receivables 13,353 12,871
Prepaid expenses 3,180 2,808
Receivables, gross 151,556 134,320
Value adjustments -15,560 -14,083
Receivables, gross 135,996 120,237

The present value of this item corresponds to the book
value. As a rule, receivables are due within one year.

There are no receivables due from management or
supervisory bodies.

1» 6. Other short-term financial assets

This item includes the valuation of derivative financial
instruments that existed as of the balance sheet date and
where recognized as assets. The financial instruments as
of the balance sheet date include forward exchange

1» 7. Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes relate to the following items:
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transactions used to hedge existing balance sheet items
and future transactions. The value recorded corresponds
to the market value.

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
T-€ T-€
Accumulated losses carried forward 4,602 14,919
Long-term assets 3,410 3,219
Short-term assets 14,394 11,843
Accruals and other liabilities 13,700 11,227
From netting in equity with neutral effect on profits 124 -
Valueadjustments b 10412 | 14,849
Deferred taxassets 25818 | 26350
7I;6r71§-7t7é7rm assets 611 595
Short-term assets 1,182 2,243
Accruals and other liabilities 229 2,436
From netting in equity with neutral effect onprofits 4049
Deferred tax liabilites b 2022 | 9323
Deferred tax assets, net 23,796 17,036

Deferred tax assets are reported only to the extent that
realization of the respective tax benefit is probable. If this
criterion is not fulfilled, value adjustments are set up on
the basis of past results of earnings and business
expectations for future periods.

As of December 31, 2002 tax losses carried forward
totaled T-€ 15,322 (previous year: T-€ 40,453); this
corresponds to a deferred tax claim of T-€ 4,602.
Following value adjustment, the tax losses carried forward
were included in deferred tax assets to the amount of T-
€ 1,458 (previous year: T-€ 7,684); the amount T-€ 582

for an indefinite period of time, T-€ 546 for 10 years, and
the remaining amount of T-€ 330 for losses to be carried
forward for a period of less than 10 years.

Deferred taxes from items recorded in equity with neutral
effect on profits (hedge accounting) are included to the
amount of T-€ 124.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted if they relate
to the same taxing power. Accordingly, they are disclosed
in the balance sheet as follows:

Dec. 31, 2002

Dec. 31, 2001

T-€ T-€
Deferred tax assets 23,796 17,036
Deferred tax liabilities - -
Deferred tax assets, net 23,796 17,036
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1» 8. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment at book value consist of
the following:

Dec. 31, 2002

Dec. 31, 2001

T-€ T-€

Land and buildings, including buildings on
third party land 21,460 19,555
Technical equipment and machines 2,550 3,464
Other equipment, factory and office equipment 30,677 25,767
Payments on account and assets under construction 2,155 1,247
56,842 50,033

The book values of property, plant and equipment are
derived from acquisition costs. Accumulated depreciation
for this item amounted to T-€ 31,270 (previous year: T-€
26,998).

Property, plant and equipment include leased assets to
the amount of T-€ 2,020 (previous year: T-€ 1,483),
which relate to real estate in France used for business
purposes, and to factory and office equipment in various
subsidiaries (mainly in Australia). The real estate in
France will be owned by PUMA after the last rental
payment has been made in 2003.

1» 9. Goodwill

This item includes the goodwill associated with the
acquisition and initial consolidation of the companies in
New Zealand, Great Britain and Sweden, net of
accumulated amortization. Development for 2002 is

1» 10. Other intangible assets

The development of this item during 2002 is shown in the
Appendix to the consolidated financial statements.

Payments on account and assets under construction as of
December 31, 2002 include down-payments for an
extension to the administration building in
Herzogenaurach.

Individual items of property, plant and equipment and
their development in the 2002 financial year are shown in
the Appendix to the consolidated financial statements.
Extraordinary depreciation due to impairment in value
was not necessary.

shown in the Appendix to the consolidated financial
statements. Extraordinary amortization due to impairment
in value was not necessary in the financial year.

Extraordinary depreciation due to impairment in value
was not necessary in the financial year.

1» 11. Other long-term financial assets

This item is made up as follows:
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Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
T-€ T-€
Loans 393 411
Other assets 639 1,289
1,032 1,700
The development for 2002 is presented in the Appendix depreciation due to impairment in value was not
to the consolidated financial statements. Extraordinary necessary in the financial year.
1» 12. Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities consist of bank loans due in less than there were guaranteed credits (largely documentary
12 months. The loans are largely denominated in € credits) amounting to T-€ 6,369 as of December 31, 2002.
(approx. 46%), GBP (approx. 20%), AUD (approx. 35%), At that date the Company had, in addition to liquid funds,
USD (approx. 10%) and other currencies (approx. 9%). unused credit lines of T€ 169,373.
There were no long-term bank loans as of the balance
sheet date.
Credit lines granted to the Company total T-€ 195,012;
they may be used either for bank loans or guaranteed
credits. In addition to the financial liabilities of T-€ 19,270,
1) 13. Trade payables and other liabilities
The present value of trade payables and other liabilities
corresponds to the book value.
Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
of which of which
due within Total Total due within
1 year 1 year
T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€
Tradepayables [ 117,858 117,858 | 88614 | 88,614
Other liabilities
Liabilities from taxes 11,122 11,122 4,727 4,727
Liabilities from social security contributions 1,648 1,648 1,328 1,328
Liabilities to employees 18,280 18,280 15,020 15,020
Liabilities from the market assessment of forward
exchange transactions 9,661 9,661 980 980
Leasing liabilities 672 672 549 549
Other liabilities 5,469 5,469 4,613 4,612
Deferred items . 395 395 | 789 | 395
47,247 47,247 28,006 27,611
165,105 165,105 116,620 116,225
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1» 14. Pension accruals

The Company maintains and pays contributions to various
pension plans, mainly in Germany, the UK and Sweden. As
a general rule, the pensions are financed on the basis of
pension accruals and, in the UK, on the basis of a pension
fund. Pension accruals totaled T-€ 17,925 (previous year:
T-€ 17,416), as of the balance sheet date. The accrual in
the UK is reduced by the value of the fund assets. The
present value of the plan assets does not include any own
financial instruments. In 2002, the plan assets were
subject to an actual impairment in value of T-€ 737.

Of the total accrual amount, T-€ 13.362 (previous year:

Most of the PUMA AG pension accruals concern active
employees, former employees with non-forfeitable
pension rights, and old-age pension recipients. As in the
previous year, calculation is based on the Dr. Klaus
Heubeck mortality tables of 1998. In accordance with IAS
19, the projected unit credit method was applied in
valuation. The PUMA AG pension plan covers general
commitments that are, as a rule, based on maximum
pension payments of € 127,82 for each month and
entitled employee; in addition, individual commitments
have been made, largely consisting of non-forfeitable
claims of retired PUMA AG Board members to the amount

The development of the pension accrual for the Group is
structured as follows:

Dec. 31, 2002

Dec. 31, 2001
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T-€ 13,056), are attributable to PUMA AG, and T-€ 3,177
(previous year: T-€ 3,380) to the sub-group in Sweden.

of T-€ 2,597 (previous year: T-€ 2,336).

Dec. 31, 2002

Dec. 31, 2001

Discounting rate
Future pension increases
Fluctuation rate

The actuarial assumptions concerning PUMA AG pension
plans are as follows:

5.5% 5.5%
2.25% 2.0%
1.5% 2.5%

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
T-€ T-€

Present value of non-funds financed pension claims pursuant
to actuarial report 17,055 17,011
Present value of funds-financed pension claims 9,388 8,125
Net of the fair value of funds assets -6,829 -7,038
Short cover/surplus cover through the funds 2,559 1,087
Present value of pension claims 19,614 18,098

Adjustment amount due to non-recorded actuarial

gains/losses (-) -1,689 -682
Pension accrual Dec. 31 17,925 17,416

T-€ T-€
Pension accrual Dec. 31 previous year 17.416 13.411
Currency translation 9 3
Changes in the consolidated group = 3.120
Pension expense 2.571 1.955
Pension payments -2.071 -1.073
Pension accrual Dec. 31 17.925 17.416
The pension expense is structured as follows:
2002 2001
T-€ T-€
Expense for pension claims arising during the reporting year 1,648 1,234
Interest expense for acquired pension claims 1,344 1,235
Expected funds asset income -731 -573
Adjustment amount due to recorded actuarial
gains/losses 310 59
Total pension expenses 2,571 1,955
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I» 15. Tax accruals and other provisions

Development of the accruals during the financial
year:

Dec. 31, 2001 Dec. 31, 2002
Currency- Utilization Release Addition

translations,

reclassifications
T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€
Tax provislion 2,496 -189 -1,120 -21 24,590 25,756

Other provisions:

Warranties 6,452 -773 -2,063 -161 5,525 8,980
Purchase risks 10,482 -1,717 -5,590 -1,027 11,939 14,087
Other 20,152 513 -5,160 -2,635 9,148 22,018
37,086 -1,977 -12,813 -3,823 26,612 45,085
39,582 -2,166 -13,933 -3,844 51,202 70,841

Tax accruals contain provisions for current taxes on
income, property taxes and turnover taxes; they do not
contain deferred tax liabilities which are offset against the
respective deferred tax assets, provided the same taxing
power is concerned. In this respect, attention is drawn
to Paragraph 7 of these Notes. Significant amounts will
probably be used up during the first months of the
coming year.

The warranty accrual is determined on the basis of the
historical value of sales generated during the past six
months. It is expected that most of these expenses will

1» 16. Long-term interest-bearing borrowings

The item includes the convertible bond issued to
management, bearing an annual interest rate of 5% (cf.
Paragraph 18 of these Notes). The total amount of T-€ 61
(previous year: T-€ 1,143) includes an equity component

I» 17. Minority interests

The compensating item for minority interests concerns
the joint venture participations in PUMA Chile S.A. and

fall due within the first six months of the next financial
year.

Purchase risks primarily relate to the molds necessary for
shoe manufacture; the item also includes anticipated
losses from purchase transactions. The major amount of
this provision will probably fall due in the following year.

Other provisions largely consist of anticipated losses,
accruals for litigation risks and other risks. It is expected
that these accruals will be used within the next two years,
depending on individual proceedings.

of T-€ 3 (previous year: T-€ 108). There were no long-
term bank liabilities as of December 31, 2002.

PUMA Portugal. A stake of 49% is held in the minority
interests in each case.

» 18. Equity

The movements of equity capital are disclosed as an
independent component in the consolidated financial
statements.

PUMA AG's subscribed capital is divided into no par
ordinary shares. A total of 15,845,500 shares were
outstanding as of the balance sheet date, the subscribed
capital amounted to T-€ 40,564. On an annual average,
15,611,296 shares were outstanding; the diluted number
of shares was 15,907,811. The price for one PUMA share
at the balance sheet date was quoted on the XETRA at €
65.03 (previous year: € 34.05) in accordance with a
market capitalization of € 1,030 million. This corresponds
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to an increase in value by 91%.

The major shareholder, Monarchy Enterprises Holdings
B.V., Rotterdam/Holland, including its subsidiaries, stated
in a letter dated January 9, 2002, that a total of 5,823,060
shares are held by it; this corresponds to 36.74898% of
all shares outstanding as of the balance sheet date. In
addition, the “Kerry Packer Group” which has an
investment in Monarchy Enterprises, holds a direct stake
of 383,900 shares or 2.42277%. Monarchy Enterprises
including its subsidiaries and the associated Packer Group
thus hold a total of 39.17175%. The shares are allocated
to the respective companies as follows:

Monarchy Enterprises Holding B.V., Rotterdam/Netherlands 2.42277%

Lace Holding B.V., Rotterdam/Netherlands
Rotnas Holding B.V., Rotterdam/Netherlands
Reniew Holding B.V., Rotterdam/Netherlands
Desiver Holding B.V., Rotterdam/Netherlands
Kerry Packer Group, Australia

Monarchy Enterprises including affiliated companies:

Free float of stock

Of the free float of stock, “Morgan Stanley & Co.
International Limited”, London, accounts for 6.46871%.
PUMA is not aware of any other shareholders holding 5%
or more of the subscribed capital.

The capital reserve largely includes the premium from the
PUMA AG capital increase carried out in 1996. The
additions in 2001 and 2002 relate to the premium of the
converted shares from the Management Incentive
Program. The amount of T-€ 40,700 from the net income
for 2002 was transferred to revenue reserves.

Authorized capital

Pursuant to Article 4, items 6 and 7 of the PUMA AG
Articles of Association, the Board is authorized, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the
nominal capital up until May 13, 2007 through the
issuance of new shares once or repeatedly in exchange
for contributions in cash by a total of up to
€ 11,520,000; the shareholders are to be granted a
subscription right. However, the Board of Management is
authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to
exclude the shareholders’ subscription right in order to
avoid fractional amounts (Authorized Capital I); and
through the issuance of new shares once or repeatedly in
exchange for contributions in cash by a total of up to

9.31416%
6.78063%
8.88413%
9.34729%
2.42277%
39.17175%

60.82825%

In accordance with IAS 39, offsetting within equity capital
with neutral effects on profits occurred in 1999 for the
first time. This item is disclosed in the Statement of Equity
Changes; it includes, in addition to the change in market
value arising from derivative financial instruments,
currency changes from primary hedging transactions in as
much as these relate to future transactions. The item to
the amount of T-€ 187 (T-€ 6,074) has already been
reduced by deferred taxes to the amount of T-€ 124
(T-€ 4,049).

€ 3,840,000. Given the approval of the Supervisory Board,
an exclusion of the subscription right is admissible either
in full or in part in the event of a capital increase in
exchange for cash contributions, if the issue price of the
new shares does not fall significantly below the market
price of already listed, equally equipped shares at the
time of final determination of the issue price. If the Board
of Management does not make use of the authorization to
exclude the subscription right, it may exclude
shareholders’ subscription rights — with the approval of
the Supervisory Board — only in order to compensate for
possible fractional amounts (Authorized Capital II).
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Conditional capital for the financing of convertible
bonds

Pursuant to Article 4 (3) of the Articles of Association, the
nominal capital is subject to a conditional increase by €
768,000, divided into 300,000 shares (conditional capital
from 1997). The conditional capital increase serves the
granting of subscription rights to members of the PUMA
AG Board of Management, to members of executive
bodies of affiliated companies and to other PUMA AG
executives and affiliated companies; the conditional
capital increase will only be carried out to the extent that
the holders of convertible bonds make use of their
conversion right. The authorization lapsed on April 24,
2002; 283,500 shares had been issued by that date. The
residual amount can no longer be used.

Pursuant to Article 4 (4) of the Articles of Association, the
nominal capital is subject to a further conditional increase
by € 768,000, divided into 300,000 shares (conditional
capital from 1999). The conditional capital increase serves

The development and the terms during the financial year
are reflected in the table below:

the granting of subscription rights to members of the
PUMA AG Board of Management, to members of
executive bodies of affiliated companies and other PUMA
AG executives and affiliated companies; the conditional
capital increase will only be carried out to the extent that
the holders of convertible bonds make use of their
conversion right. The authorization lapses on May 4,
2004; 295,500 shares had been issued until the balance
sheet date.

In the financial year the conditional capital for the
financing of convertible bonds was largely used as a result
of the conversions carried out and was already added to
the subscribed capital. Convertible bonds still outstanding
at the balance sheet date amounted to T-€ 61 or 24,000
shares (previous year: T- € 1,143 or 447,000 shares).

Conditional Capital from 1999 from 1997 from 1997
Installment 1999/2009 1998/2008 1997/2007
Nominal value Unit| Nominal value Unit| Nominal value Unit
T-€ T-€ T-€
Convertible bonds issued 754 295,000 163 63,500 563 220,000
of which
in circulation on Jan. 1 533 208,500 155 60,500 455 178,000
withdrawn in 2002 - - -15 -6,000 -
converted in 2002 -481 -188,000 -137 -53,500 -449 -175,500
in circulation on Dec. 31 52 20,500 3 1,000 6 2,500
Conversion price | €664 €284 €32.88
Issue date Dec. 9, 1999 Oct. 1, 1998 Oct. 1, 1997
Blocking period 2 years 2 years 2 years
Exercise period Dec. 10, 2001 - Oct. 2, 2000 - Oct. 4, 1999 -
Dec. 3, 2009 Sep. 24, 2008 Sep. 24, 2007
Term 10 years 10 years 10 years
Interest rate p.a. 5% 5% 5%

Conditional capital to finance share options

Pursuant to Article 4 (5) of the Articles of Association, the
nominal capital is subject to a further capital increase by
€ 3,918,800, divided into 1,530,000 bearer shares
(Conditional Capital from 2001). The purpose of the
conditional capital is to grant option rights to the
members of the PUMA AG Board of Management, the
members of executive bodies of affiliated companies,
PUMA AG executives and affiliated companies. The
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conditional capital increase is carried out to the extent
that the holders of the options exercise their option rights.

Development during the financial year and the terms of
the options issued is reflected in the following table:

Conditional Capital from 2001 from 2001
Installment 2002/2007 2001/2006
Nominal value Unit| Nominal value Unit
T-€ T-€
Options issued 1,114 435,000 1,138 444,714
of which
in circulation on Jan. 1. - - 1,137 444,214
issued in 2002 1,114 435,000 - -
withdrawn in 2002 -8 -3,000 -33 -13,000
converted in 2002 - - - -
__ingirculationonDec.31 o 1106 432000 | 1104] 431,214
Issue price € 56.38 € 24.61
Issue date Apr. 9, 2002 Aug. 29, 2001
Blocking period 2 years 2 years
Exercise period Apr. 10, 2004 - Aug. 30, 2003 -
Apr. 8, 2007 Aug. 28, 2006
Term 5 years 5 years
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Dividend

The amounts eligible for distribution relate to the PUMA
AG balance sheet profit which is determined in
accordance with German Commercial Law.

The Board of Management proposes that a dividend of €
0.55 per share or, in total, T- € 8,715 from the PUMA AG
balance sheet profit be distributed to the shareholders. A

dividend of € 0.30 per share or, in total, T-€ 4,628, was
distributed for 2001. This represents an increase of 88 %.

The appropriation of the PUMA AG balance sheet profit as
at Dec. 31, 2002 is proposed as follows:

2002 2001

Balance sheet profit of PUMA AG as at Dec. 31 T-€ 68,142 32,071
Dividend per share € 0.55 0.30
Number of outstanding shares Unit 15,845,500 15,428,500
Total dividen T-€ 8,715 4,629
Carry forward to the new accounting period T-€ 59,427 27,442

1» 19. Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses are made up as follows:

2002 2001

T-€ T-€

Wages and salaries 78,397 65,660
Social security contributions 12,144 8,885
Expenses for pension plans and other personnel expenses 12,426 6,558
Total 102,967 81,103

The annual average number of staff was as follows:

2002 2001

T-€ T-€

Marketing 94 83
Distribution 888 634
Product management/development 205 175
Sourcing/logistics/production 637 508
Central units 368 317
Total 2,192 1,717

1» 20. Selling, administration and general expenses

In addition to personnel expenses, advertising and selling
costs, the legal and consulting costs, rental / leasing
expenses, travel costs, telephone and postage as well as
other general expenses were major items. The amount of
T-€ 18,208 (previous year: T-€ 13,544), is attributable to
rental / leasing expenses.

In addition to income typical of the business, other
operating income includes releases of accruals, exchange
gains, value adjustments no longer needed, and
payments received for receivables written down. Most of
the income is directly associated with selling,
administration and general expenses.

1» 21. Financial result

The financial result is made up as follows:
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Broken down according to functional areas, marketing
and retail expense totaled T-€ 125,126, or 13.7 % of sales
revenues (previous year: T-€ 86,933 or 14.5 %). In
addition to cost of materials, this item also includes other
types of costs (e.g. personnel costs). Total costs for the
functional areas of product development and design
amounted to T-€ 24,247 or 2.7 % of sales (previous year:
T-€ 19,878 or 3.3 %).

Other selling, administration and general expenses came
to T-€ 154,903 or 17.0 % (previous year: T-€ 113,648 or
19.0 %).

2002 2001

T-€ T-€

Other interest and similar income 1,847 1,949
Interest and similar expenses -2,456 -3,562
Financial result -609 -1,613
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1» 22. Taxes on income

2002 2001
T-€ T-€

Current income taxes
Germany 20,670 3,963
Other countries 23,846 3,638
44,516 7,601
Deferred taxes -4,749 9,680
39,767 17,281

Current income tax in Germany, after netting of losses
carried forward, relates to corporation tax, solidarity
surcharge and trade tax.

In general, PUMA AG and its German subsidiary are
subject to corporation tax plus solidarity surcharge and

trade tax which is deductible upon determination of the
income subject to corporation tax. In the financial year
this resulted in a mixed tax rate of approximately 36.85%.

Numerical reconciliation of the theoretical tax expense
with the effective tax expense:

2002 2001
T-€ T-€
Income before taxes 124,426 57,433
Theoretical tax expense
Tax rate of the AG = 36,85% (previous year: 36,85%) 45,851 21,164
Differences from tax rates in other countries -9,201 -6,363
Other tax effects:
Intra-group write-offs at the going concern value 7,453 336
Goodwill amortization 210 221
Release of value adjustments on deferred taxes -4,437 -2,631
Other non-deductible expenses and income
as well as consolidation and other effects -109 4,554
Effective tax expense 39,767 17,281
Effective tax rate 32.0% 30.1%

I» 23. Earnings per share

Earnings per share are determined in accordance with IAS
33 by dividing group earnings by the average number of
shares outstanding. A dilution of this indicator may result
from so-called potential shares (convertible bonds and
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share options). The share option program has a diluting
effect on profits in the financial year. The calculations are

presented below:

2002 2001
Consolidated net earnings T-€ 84,881 39,702
Average number of shares outstanding units 15,611,296 15,392,268
Diluted number of shares units 15,907,811 15,392,268
Earnings per share € 5.44 2.58
Earnings per share, diluted € 5.34 2.58

1» 24. Derivative financial instruments

Management of the currency risk

The Company is exposed to currency risks which result
from an imbalance in the worldwide cash flow. This
imbalance is largely due to the high level of procurement
in US Dollars in the Far East. Sales are largely invoiced in
other currencies; in addition, the Company mainly earns
royalty income in Japanese YEN (JPY) and USD. The
resulting assets and liability are subject to exchange-rate
fluctuations from the date of their origin up to realization.

Derivative and primary hedging instruments are used to
minimize the currency risk in the PUMA Group in
accordance with intra-group guidelines. Derivative
transactions are concluded if hedging requirements result
after netting existing foreign currency receivables and
liabilities and if future transactions need to be hedged. In
accordance with the Group’s treasury principles, no
derivative financial instruments are held for trading
purposes. As a general rule, derivatives are combined
with the associated underlying transactions to valuation
units (hedge accounting) and, to this effect, do not
impact the net income for the year. In 2002 the Company
used some derivative instruments which do not qualify as
hedge accounting in the sense of IAS 39 but served as a
means to effectively limit currency risks in accordance

with risk management purposes. Market value changes
concerning these derivative instruments were recognized
in the profit and loss account.

The Company usually secures its net demand or net
surplus of the respective currencies on a rolling basis 12
months in advance. Hereby, the net demand or net
surplus results from the demand for a certain currency
net of expected income in the same currency. Forward
exchange deals and, to some extent, options are used to
hedge currency risks.

For balance sheet purposes, hedging transactions are
clearly linked to certain parts of the overall risk position.
As of the balance sheet date, however, there were almost
exclusively forward exchange contracts primarily for the
purchase of USD, and the sale of JPY and USD concluded
with renowned international banks. In general, the term
to maturity of currency derivatives is within a period of
one year with the exception of hedging instruments for
the JPY. The contracts are exclusively used to hedge
contracts already concluded or where conclusion is
expected.
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The nominal amounts and market values of open rate-
hedging transactions, largely related to cash flow
hedging, are structured as follows:

Nominal amount Nominal amount Market value Market value

2002 2001 2002 2001

T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€

Total forward exchange transactions 315,222 204,001 -1,725 5,635

The nominal amount corresponds to the amounts of the
respective hedging transactions as agreed upon between
the parties involved. The market value is the amount to
which the financial instrument would be traded on the
market between interested parties at the balance sheet
date. The market values are determined on the basis of
group-wide uniform valuation models and the market
values communicated by the banks. The market value is

I» 25. Segment reporting

In primary segment reporting, as a first step, sales and
gross profit are shown according to the geographical
region where sales are realized (according to customers’
head offices); in a second presentation, sales are
allocated to the region where the head office of the
respective group company is located. Inter-company sales
are eliminated under Central units / Consolidation. The
allocation of the remaining segment information is also
determined on the basis of the respective group
company’s head office. The sum totals equal the amounts
on the income statement or on the balance sheset,
respectively.

The operating result for the respective regions were
adjusted for intra-group settlements such as license and
commission payments. The worldwide royalty income,
largely realized by PUMA AG, the cost of international
marketing, product development and other international
costs are included under Central Units / Consolidation.
Regional allocation with respect to the sales business
would not be reasonable.

reported under Other Financial Assets or Other Liabilities
in accordance with IAS 39, and offset against equity with
neutral effects on profits in as much as the hedging
transaction relates to future transactions.

Management does not expect any adverse influences on
the Group’s financial position from the use of derivative
financial instruments.

Gross assets include segment assets used to generate the
operating result of the respective segment. Non-operating
assets including deferred tax assets and group assets
which cannot be allocated are disclosed in the Central
Units / Consolidation column.

Liabilities include the respective outside capital from the
viewpoint of the companies allocated. Intra-group assets
and liabilities are eliminated in the Central Units /
Consolidation column.

Investments and depreciation include additions to and
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and of
intangible assets for the current financial year.

The allocation concerning secondary segment data is
based on the internal reporting structure, e.g., according
to the footwear, apparel and accessories product
categories. The operating results and most of the asset
and liability items cannot be allocated in a sensible
manner.

Primary segment data
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Sales Internal External sales Gross profit Sales
(total) Sales with third parties by head office
Regions by head office of customers Lo oLl
2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001
T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€
Europe 664,770 427,323| -30,305| -27,553| 634,465| 399,770 282,291 172,914| 682,871 433,555
Asia/Pacific Rim 53,283 46,234 -5,884 -982| 47,399 45,252| 17,785 15,824| 52,650 54,279
America 208,680, 144,358 -13 -2,178| 208,667 | 142,180| 92,545 59,214| 206,905/ 140,010
Africe/Middle East 19,247 10,920 0 -47| 19,247 10,873 4,280 2,659 3,554 991
Central units/consolidation | | |\ foooo b -36,202| 30,760
Total 945,980| 628,835 -36,202| -30,760| 909,778 598,075| 396,901 250,611| 909,778 598,075

Profit
from operations

Gross assets
(balance sheet total)

Liabilities

Investments

Depreciation

Regions by head office location of group companies
2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001
T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€
Europe 106,985 52,669| 445,778 313,959| 292,777| 223,909| 15,770/ 14,538 7,639 5,142
Asia/Pacific Rim 5,330 3,153| 16,404 24,636| 24,226 20,459 1,095 1,446 803 817
America 24,769 11,156| 68,270/ 64,308 56,669 62,763 5,446 9,930 3,282 2,042
Africe/Middle East -257 -358 2,832 1,513 3,381 1,533 92 95 39 8
Central units/consolidation | -11,794|  -7574| -7,446|  -9,033-103,850| -90,803| 125 0 723 344
Total 125,033 59,046| 525,838 395,383| 273,203| 217,861 22,528 26,009 12,486 8,353
Breakdown of Sales and Gross Results by Product
Categories
Sales Internal External sales Gross profit
(total) sales with third parties in %
2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001
T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€ T-€
Footwear 631,942| 400,368 -18,909| -16,308| 613,033| 384,060/ 44.3% 42.2%
Apparel 250,939 182,337| -12,490| -12,839| 238,450, 169,498 41.7% 41.2%
Accessoiries 63,099| 46,130| -4,803| -1613 58,295 44517| 44.8%  41.7%
Total 945,980, 628,835 -36,202| -30,760| 909,778| 598,075 43.6% 41.9%
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1D 26. Notes to the cash flow statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared in
accordance with IAS 7 (revised), using the indirect
method, and broken down by cash flows from operating,
investing and financing activities. The gross cash flow is
derived from results before taxes on income and adjusted
for non-cash income and expense items within the cash
flow from operating activities. Free cash flow is the cash
provided by operating activities reduced by investments in
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

In the 2002 financial year, the gross cash flow increased
perceptibly from T-€ 69,677 to T-€ 135,099. Cash from
operating activities including the change in short-term
balance sheet items amounts to T-€ 119,092 (previous
year: T-€ 43,742). Cash flows attributable to investing
and financing activities were reclassified accordingly.

Cash used for investing activities totaled T-€ 19,031
(previous year: T-€ 40,771), and largely relates to fixed
asset investments. In addition, this item includes
payments received from the disposal of fixed assets and
interest received. Cash used for investing activities could
be fully financed from the cash received from operating

1» 27. Contingencies

activities. In effect, a free cash flow to the amount of
T- € 100,061 or € 6,41 per share remains.

Taking cash amounting to T-€ 18,171 (previous year:
T-€ 10,955), used for financing activities and currency-
related changes in cash and cash equivalents into
account, the increase in cash and cash equivalents
amounts to T-€ 78,267 (previous year: T-€ 7,554). Liquid
funds available on December 31, 2002 amounted to
T-€ 113,575 (previous year: T-€ 35,308), and include
cash, sight deposits and fixed term deposits (terms up to
three months); there are no restraints on disposal

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
T-€ T-€

Liabilities on bills discounted
Guarantees and warranties

537 85
2,078 2,490

1» 28. Other financial obligations

The Company’s other financial obligations relate to
license, promotion and advertising contracts. In addition,
the Company leases and rents offices, warehouses,
facilities, a car park as well as sales premises for its own
retail business “Concept Stores”. The residual term of the
lease contract for the logistics center in Germany
(operative leasing) is 8 years. The term of rental contracts
concerning the Concept Stores is between 6 and 15 years.
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The terms of all other rental and lease contracts are
between 1 and 5 years.

As of the balance sheet date, the Company’s financial
obligations were as follows:

Dec. 31, 2002 Dec. 31, 2001
T-€ T-€

From license, promotion and advertising contracts:
2003 (2002) 26,958 15,347
2004 - 2007 (2003 - 2006) 60,111 28,604

From rental and lease contracts:

2003 (2002) 19,182 14,441
2004 - 2007 (2003 - 2006) 43,796 43,463
as from 2008 (as from 2007) 26,961 32,038

The increase in rental and lease obligations largely results
from long-term rental contracts for PUMA's own retail
business.

I» 29. Transactions with related parties

Within the scope of acquisition of the Tretorn Group in
2001, a financial liability to Proventus AB (formerly a
major PUMA AG shareholder) was taken over. The liability

was interest-free from the take-over date until the end of
September 2002.
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1» 30. Disclosures concerning the Supervisory Board and the Board of Management

2002 2001

T-€ T-€

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 250 102
Remuneration of the Board of Management — fixed component 3,160 1,796
Remuneration of the Board of Management — variable component 1,746 3,075
Pension commitments to former Board members 2,597 2,336

Remuneration of the Board of Management includes, in
addition to current remuneration, compensation with
respect to private pension plans. No other pension
commitments concerning active board members exist.
The variable components of the previous year related to
bonus payments also for 2000.

Pension commitments vis a vis former board members are
carried at the stated amount as a liability within pension
provisions.

1» 31. German Corporate Governance Code

The German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK)
presents the significant legal provisions for the
management and monitoring of German listed
corporations and includes standards for responsible
corporate  management. PUMA AG has posted a
prescribed explanation about the observance of the DCGK
on its corporate website (www.puma.com), in accordance
with Paragraph 161 of the “Aktiengesetz” (Companies

1» 32. Approval of the annual financial statements

The annual financial statements were prepared by the
Board of Management on February 5, 2003, and
submitted to the Supervisory Board for examination. If
the Supervisory Board approves the annual financial
statements on the occasion of the Supervisory Board
meeting on February 27, 2003, the annual financial

As of the balance sheet date, the Board of Management
and the Supervisory Board hold a total of 264,939
options/shares or 1.67201% of the shares outstanding,
of which 263,939 or 1.66570% are attributable to the
Board of Management and 1,000 or 0.00631% to the
Supervisory Board.

Code), pursuant to the transitional legislation under
Paragraph 15 of the Introductory section of the
Companies Code.

statements shall be adopted unless the Supervisory Board
and the Board of Management decide that the annual
financial statements be approved by the Shareholders’
Meeting. The decisions of the Board of Management and
the Supervisory Board shall be included in the report of
the Supervisory Board to the Shareholders’ Meeting.

Herzogenaurach, February 5, 2003

The Board of Management

Zeitz Gansler

Heyd

Report of the Auditors

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
PUMA Aktiengesellschaft Rudolf Dassler Sport,
Herzogenaurach, (consisting of a consolidated balance
sheet, consolidated income statement, notes to the
consolidated financial statements, cash flow statement,
segment reporting statement and statement of changes
in equity) and the Group Management Report for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The preparation and content
of the consolidated financial statements and the group
management report according to international accounting
standards (IAS) issued by IASB (IAS) are the
responsibility of the Company's Board of Management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements and the group
management report, based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with professional auditing
standards of the German Institute of Chartered
Accountants (IDW) and international standards on
auditing (ISA). These standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements is examined on a test basis in the framework
of the audit. The audit includes assessing the accounting
rules used and significant estimates made by the Board of
Management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position,
results of operations and cash flows of the Group in the
financial year in accordance with IAS.

Our audit, which according to German auditing
regulations also extends to the group management report
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31,
2002 prepared by Board of Management, did not lead to
any reservations. In our opinion the group management
report provides, on the whole, a suitable understanding of
the position of the Group and presents fairly the risks of
future development. In addition, we confirm that the
consolidated financial statements and the group
management report for the financial year from January 1
to December 31, 2002 satisfy the conditions required for
the Company’s exemption from its duty to prepare
consolidated financial statements and a group
management report in accordance with German law.

Frankfurt am Main, February 5, 2003

PRCAARIERHOUSE QOPERS

CernbH
WA e |I"I-'|rii|'l.1||1;=\.i:r'h|-'| love Franlt

Detlev Cuntz Dr. Ulrich V. Stoérk
German Public Accountant German Public Accountant
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear Shareholders,

In the past year we have dealt intensively with the
Company’s situation in a difficult market environment. We
were involved with decisions of major importance and the
Board kept us regularly and comprehensively informed on
a timely basis.

Focus of Discussions

During the financial year the Supervisory Board assumed
the tasks imposed on it by law while also supporting, and
advising management and monitored its activities. At the
general meetings, which took place on March 12, May 14,
August 30, and October 3, 2002, and through regular
written and oral reporting, the Board of Management
informed us about the financial situation of the PUMA
Group as a whole, and about matters of corporate policy
and strategy.

Significant issues discussed at the Supervisory Board
meetings and in subsequent break-outs included the
following:

e Audit and Approval of the 2001 Annual Financial
Statements

e Regular Business Development during the 2002
Financial Year

e Corporate Planning for the Year 2003

e Selection/ Appointment of new Supervisory Board
Members

e Stock Option Program

¢ Corporate Governance Code

e Phase III of Corporate Planning

e Group Executive Committee

e Sponsorships

e Current Issues of Business Policy

Moreover, at the meeting on March 11/12, 2002, the
Supervisory Board personnel committee dealt in detail
with various employee related matters. Werner Hofer
(Chairman), David Matalon, Thore Ohlsson and Katharina
Wojaczek are members of this committee. In addition, a
balance sheet committee was established during the
reporting year, which concerns itself with all questions
relevant to accounting and results and also conducts
discussions with the auditors. David Matalon (Chairman),
Werner Hofer and Erwin Hildel are members of the
balance sheet committee.

Annual Financial Statements approved

PUMA AG's annual accounts as prepared by the Board of
Management, the consolidated financial statements, the
management report and the group management report,
including the underlying accounting system, have been
audited and provided with an unqualified audit opinion by
the auditors of PricewaterhouseCoopers,
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft GmbH, Frankfurt an
Main; the auditors were appointed by the General
Meeting on May 14, 2002, and commissioned by the
Supervisory Board to audit the annual financial
statements and the consolidated financial statements.

In their report, the auditors arrive at the conclusion that
PUMA’s institutionalized risk management system
pursuant to Section 91, (2) Stock Corporation Act, is
suitable for the early recognition of any developments
that may impair the Company’s development and for
taking counteraction against same. The Board of
Management has informed the Supervisory Board at
regular intervals about the assessment of market and
source risks, financial risks including currency risks, and
also about risks that may arise in the organizational area.

The documents referred to above and the proposal for
appropriation of earnings were issued to us by the Board
of Management in good time. The auditors’ reports were
issued to all members of the Supervisory Board and, in
the presence of the auditor who reported on significant
audit results, and were dealt with in detail at the balance
sheet meeting of the Supervisory Board.

After thorough examination, we have approved the
annual financial statements prepared by the Board of
Management and agree with the auditors’ results. After
examining the annual financial statements, no objections
are raised. The Supervisory Board approved the annual
financial statements as prepared by the Board of
Management; the annual financial statements are hereby
established. The Supervisory Board agrees with the Board
of Management’s proposal that the shareholders
participate in the earnings of the Company and that the
dividend be raised by 83% to € 0.55 per share. A total of
€ 8.7 million from the balance sheet profit will be used to
this end.

Changes in the Supervisory Board

Mr. Mikael Kamras has, at his own wish and with effect
from May 5, 2002, retired from the Supervisory Board. We
wish to thank Mr. Kamras for his many years of service on
the Supervisory Board. Mr. Kamras successfully supported
the Company’s 1993 restructuring phase and the strategic
reorientation of PUMA. As his successor and with effect
from May 14, 2002, the shareholders at the Annual
Shareholders Meeting elected Mr. James Douglas Packer,
Consolidated Press Holdings Ltd, Australia, to the
Supervisory Board.

Inge Baumann and Horst Zyder, both Employees’
Representatives, have also left the Board with effect from
May 14, 2002. We wish to thank Ms. Baumann and Mr.
Zyder for their many years of service on the Supervisory
Board. As their successors and with effect from May 14,
2002, Melanie Seiler, and Erwin Hildel, both Employees’
Representatives, have been elected by the staff as
members of the Supervisory Board.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board wishes to express its great
appreciation and thanks to the Board of Management, to
the management of the Group companies, the staff’s
chosen representatives and all employees for this
successful performance and the work involved in

achieving it.

Herzogenaurach, February 27, 2003
For the Supervisory Board

Werner Hofer
Chairman
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The Company’s Boards

Board of Management

Jochen Zeitz

Nuremnberg, Germany

Chairman

(Marketing, Sales, Finance, Administration, Human)

Member of other Supervisory Boards or similar boards:

¢ Deutschen Bank AG
¢ Falke KG
¢ Harley Davidson Europe

Martin Génsler

Gersthofen

Deputy Chairman

(Research, Developement, Design and Sourcing)

Ulrich Heyd

Nuremnberg, Germany

Supervisory Board

(Legal Affairs and Industrial Property Rights)

AUFSICHTSRAT

Werner Hofer (Chairman)
Hamburg
Lawyer

Member of other Supervisory Boards or similar boards:

e H & M Hennes & Mauritz AB, Stockholm/Sweden

e Electrolux Germany GmbH (Chairman),
Siegen/Germany

¢ AEG Hausgerate GmbH (Chairman),
Nuremnberg, Germany

o ISPAT Europe S.A., Luxemburg/Luxemburg

o ISPAT Germany GmbH, Duisburg/Germany

o ISPAT Hamburger Stahlwerke GmbH,
Hamburg/Germany

o ISPAT Stahlwerk Ruhrort GmbH, Duisburg/Germany

Thore Ohlsson (Deputy Chairman)
Falsterbo, Sweden
President of Elimexo AB, Falsterbo/Sweden

Member of other Supervisory Boards or similar boards:

¢ Boss Media AB, Vaxjo/Sweden

e Bastec AB (Vorsitzender), Malmd/Sweden
o Elite Hotels AB, Stockholm/Sweden

o Tretorn AB, Helsingborg/Sweden

o T. Frick AB (Vorsitzender), Vellinge/Sweden
e Trianon AB, Malmd/Sweden

James Douglas Packer

Bellevue Hill, Australia

Chairman of Publishing and Broadcasting Limited,
Sydney/Australien

Member of other Supervisory Boards or similar boards:
e ecorp Limited, Sydney/Australia

¢ Consolidated Press Holdings Limited, Sydney/Australia
¢ Challenger International Limited, Sydney/Australia

Arnon Milchan
Herzelia, Israel
Producer

Member of other Supervisory Boards or similar boards:

¢ Monarchy Enterprises Holdings B.V., LLC,
Rotterdam/Netherlands

e The Silver Lining Foundation, Aspen, Colorado/U.S.A.

David Matalon

Beverly Hills, USA

President and CEO of New Regency Productions, Inc., Los
Angeles/U.S.A.

Member of other Supervisory Boards or similar boards:

¢ Monarchy Enterprises Holdings B.V., LLC,
Rotterdam/Netherlands

¢ Regency Entertainment USA Corp., Los Angeles/U.S.A.

e IVP Ltd., Kfar-Saba, Israel

Peter Chernin

Los Angeles, USA

President and Managing Director of News Corporation Ltd.,
New York, USA / Sidney, Australia

Member of other Supervisory Boards or similar boards:
e The News Corporation Limited, Sidney, N.S.W./Australia

e Monarchy Enterprises Holdings B.V., Rotterdam/Netherlands

¢ Fox Entertainment Group, Inc., New York/U.S.A.
e E*Trade Group, Inc., Menlo Park, Kalifornien/U.S.A.

Katharina Wojaczek (Employees’ Representative)
Aurachtal-Falkendorf, Germany
Works council chairperson

Erwin Hildel (Employees’ Representative)
Herzogenaurach, Germany
Administrative Assistant

Melanie Seiler (Employees’ Representative)
Lonnerstadt, Germany
Head of Service and Order Processing Department




